
Agenda 

Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  Tuesday 07 July 2020 

Time:  6pm 

Venue: Virtual Meeting Via Microsoft Teams 

Members: Authority Represented: 

Councillors Seán Woodward Fareham BC 

Gerald Vernon-Jackson Portsmouth CC 

Ken Moon East Hampshire DC 

Keith House Eastleigh BC 

Stephen Philpott Gosport BC 

Judith Grajewski Hampshire CC 

Michael Wilson Havant BC 

Neil Cutler Winchester CC 

Edward Heron New Forest DC 

Christopher Hammond Southampton CC 

Nick Adams-King 

Oliver Crosthwaite-Eyre 

Test Valley BC 

 New Forest NP 

Chief Executives: Authority Represented: 

Nick Tustian Eastleigh BC 
Peter Grimwood Fareham BC 
John Coughlan Hampshire CC 

Gill Kneller Havant BC & East Hampshire DC 
David Williams Portsmouth CC & Gosport BC 
Sandy Hopkins Southampton CC 
Andy Ferrier Test Valley BC 
Laura Taylor Winchester CC 
Bob Jackson 
Alison Barnes 

New Forest DC 
New Forest NP 
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Co-opted Members Organisation Represented: 

Paddy May     Partnership for South Hampshire 

TBC Homes & Communities Agency

James Humphrys Environment Agency

Gary Jeffries Solent Local Enterprise Partnership

      Homes & Communities Agency 

                      Environment Agency 

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership 

For further information please contact Democratic Services at 
Fareham Borough Council Tel: 01329 824594 

democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk 
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1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN

To elect a Chairman for the Municipal Year 2020/21

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN

To elect a Vice-Chairman for the Municipal Year 2020/21

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CHANGES IN JOINT COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP

To note any changes in membership for this meeting of the Joint Committee
made in accordance with Council procedure Rule 4.3

4. MINUTES

To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2020 .

5. CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS

6. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest from members, in accordance with the
Joint Agreement.

7. DEPUTATIONS

To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged.

8. STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND - PROGRESS

To receive a report on the progress in preparing a Statement of Common Ground
for the PfSH area.

9. PfSH CO-ORDINATOR'S REPORT

An additional method for PfSH business to be reported to the Joint Committee.
An opportunity for issues which are significant, but do not justify a full report in
their own right to be brought to the attention of the Joint Committee for a decision.

10. PfSH CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20 AND
CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS 2020/21

To receive a report on the Capital and Revenue Budget 2020/21.

11. PfSH NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY UPDATE

To receive a report outlining how a voluntary nutrient mitigation ‘credit’ scheme
can be enforced and monitored across the PfSH sub-regain.
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12. SOUTHERN POLICY CENTRE

To receive a verbal presentation on the Southern Policy Centre’s proposals for
south central.

13. SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2020/21

To consider a report by the Head of Democratic Services, Fareham Borough
Council, which asks the Joint Committee to note its schedule of meeting dates
for the municipal year 2020/21.

Page 4 of 78



Minutes of the 
Partnership for South Hampshire 

(PfSH) Joint Committee 

Minutes of a meeting held on 10 February 2020 
in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Fareham 

Members: Authority Represented: 

Councillors: Seán Woodward (Chairman Fareham BC 
Judith Grajewski Hampshire CC 
Neil Cutler  Winchester CC 
Nick Adams-King 
Stephen Philpott 
Michael Wilson 
David Airey 
Christopher Hammond (Vice-Chairman) 
Ken Moon 
Barry Rickman 
Patrick Heneghan 

Test Valley BC 
Gosport BC 
Havant BC 

Eastleigh BC 
Southampton CC 

East Hampshire DC 
New Forest DC 
New Forest NP 

Officers: Authority Represented: 
Peter Grimwood Fareham BC 
Roger Tetstall Test Valley BC 
Laura Taylor Winchester CC 
Stuart Jarvis Hampshire CC 
Bob Jackson New Forest DC 
Simon Jenkins Havant BC & East Hants DC 
Nick Tustian 
David Williams 
Alison Barnes 
Sandy Hopkins 

Eastleigh BC 
Portsmouth CC & Gosport BC 

New Forest NP 
Southampton CC 

Co-opted Members:       Organisation represented: 
Paddy May PfSH 
Catherine Fuller Environment Agency 

Also in Attendance: 
Johnathan Evans (Item 7) Southampton CC 
Claire Upton-Brown (Item 8) New Forest DC 
Mike Allgrove (Item 8) PfSH Consultant 
Charlotte Lines (Item 9) Environment Agency 
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David Bibby (Item 9) Test Valley BC 
Joff Edevane (Item 9) Southern Water 
Andrew Smith (Item 9) Natural England 
Graham Horton (Item 9) Natural England 
Debbie Tann (Item 9) Hampshire & Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust 
John Durnell (Item 9) Hampshire & Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust 
Anna Parry (Item 10) Bird Aware Solent 
Charles Freeman (Item11) Co-ordinator for Culture, Creative Industries 

Built Environment, Themed Panel 

For further information, please contact Democratic Services at Fareham Borough 
Council Tel: 01329 824594 

democracticservices@fareham.gov.uk 
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1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CHANGES IN JOINT COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP

Apologies for absence were received from:

Councillor Edward Heron (New Forest DC) with Councillor Barry Rickman
deputising, Oliver Crosthwaite-Eyre (New Forest National Park) with Patrick
Heneghan deputising, James Humphrys (Environment Agency), Gary Jefferies
(Solent LEP), Gill Kneller (Havant & East Hants DC) with Simon Jenkins
deputising, Councillor Keith House (Eastleigh BC) with Councillor David Airey
deputising.

2. MINUTES

RESOLVED that the minutes of the PfSH Joint Committee meeting held on 14
October 2019 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3. CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chairman announced that he will be attending a meeting with the Secretary of
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, The Rt Hon Robert
Jenrick MP on the 12 February 2020 with items on the agenda for discussion
including, Nitrates, funding for Junction 10 improvements and Housing Numbers.

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest received at this meeting.

5. DEPUTATIONS

There were no deputations received at this meeting.

6. PFSH MANAGERS CO-ORDINATOR’S REPORT

The Joint Committee received a report by the PfSH co-ordinator, Paddy May, that
covered issues which are significant, but do not justify a full report to be brought to
the attention of the Joint Committee for decision or for information. The report is
divided into Parts A and B, with Part A outlining matters for decision and Part B
providing information for the Joint Committee on a variety of PfSH matters.

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee: -
a) NOTES and ENDORSES the revised Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership

(Bird Aware) updated terms of reference in Part A of this report; and

b) NOTES the matters for Information outlined in Part B of the report.

7. PfSH CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20 AND
PROPOSED INTERIM REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21

The Joint Committee received a report from Johnathan Evans, on the Capital and
Revenue Budget 2020/21. The Joint Committee was asked to note an amendment
to the figures within table 5 of the report. The New Forest National Park Authorities
contribution of £750 was not added to the table at the time of publication in error.
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RESOLVED that the Joint Committee: - 

a) NOTES the spend for the year to date against the revenue and capital
budgets and the forecast outturn for 2019/20, as set out in the report (tables
2 & 4);

b) NOTES that the forecast outturn from the 2019/20 budgets is provisional
and may be subject to change in the final outturn budget report; and

c) with the addition of the New Forest National Park Authorities contribution of
£750, APPROVES the proposed interim revenue budget for 2020/21, as set
out in the report (table 5).

8. STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND - PROGRESS

The Joint Committee received a report from Claire Upton-Brown which provides an
update on the progress towards the Statement of Common Ground.

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTES the progress made on the
Statement of Common Ground set out in this report.

9. PfSH NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY UPDATE

The Joint Committee received a report from David Bibby which provided an update
to the Joint Committee on the recent progress made on the work of PfSH and its
partners has undertaken to address the nitrate issue.

The Chairman, along with several other Members of the Joint Committee,
expressed concern over the absence of a solution after over a year. It was stated
that small developers, tradesman and agents across the region were going out of
business, no homes were being built across large areas of the region and Local
Planning Authorities were likely to fail their housing delivery tests.

The Chairman welcomed, Catherine Fuller and Charlotte Lines from the
Environment Agency, Andrew Smith and Graham Horton from Natural England,
Joff Edevane from Southern Water and invited them to comment on the contents
of the report.

Graham Horton from Natural England explained that they, and colleagues from the
Environment Agency have been working hard together to agree on a mitigation
strategy, but the issue of nutrient neutrality is incredibly complex and with the two
organisations having different requirements and expectations, although they are
closer to an agreement, there is still some work to do.

Andrew Smith from Natural England added that all parties, including officers from
across all the affected Local Authorities have been working incredibly hard to find
a solution and that progress is being made, although they understand the
perception may seem different to other agencies.

Catherine Fuller from the Environment Agency addressed the Joint Committee to
advise that various pieces of work to tackle this issue are being progressed by
numerous agencies, including; the MHCLG Minister of Housing, Communities and
Local Government, DEFRA (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs),
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Natural England and the Environment Agency. Catherine Fuller read out the 
following statement to the Joint Committee to outline the work in more detail: - 

Environment Agency/Natural England Joint Position Statement: 
• Natural England and Environment Agency issued a joint position

statement which clarifies the agencies’ respective roles in managing
impacts on sensitive sites through the planning and permitting regime.
This was shared with the PfSH secretariat for distribution to members in
November last year and is available on its website: www.push.gov.uk.

Nutrient Neutrality advice:
• Natural England are adjusting the method for calculating nutrient

neutrality, taking into account information submitted by stakeholders, and
are providing advice to Local Planning Authorities accordingly.  A revised
version is due to be published by the end of February 2020.

• Natural England and MHCLG working together to create a spreadsheet
calculator to help standardise the application of the method across the
PfSH authorities and to make it easier for developers and officers to
quickly and easily calculate the overall nutrient budget of development
proposals.

Wastewater Treatment Works permits:
• Natural England and Environment Agency are assessing the latest

evidence to understand if a review of water discharge permits for
wastewater treatment works discharging to the Solent and its harbours
should be carried out. The agencies are meeting at the beginning of
February 2020 to agree on a future approach.

Strategic Mitigation:
• MHCLG are seeking funding which could contribute towards developing

strategic scale nature-based mitigation strategies in the Solent area.
• MHCLG have requested a teleconference with PfSH authorities to gather

information to be used in support of this.
• Key practical mitigation options available and the key stages for securing a

strategic nature-based nitrogen mitigation solution have been mapped.
PfSH input on this is currently being sought in order to better understand
the specific areas where the authorities may require additional information,
support or resources to develop area-wide mitigation schemes.

• MHCLG are also exploring opportunities to minimise the costs of mitigation
for developers, for example, by delivering this as part of environmental
improvements already required by national or local planning policy, such
as securing biodiversity net gain.

Planning Guidance:
• MHCLG are reviewing planning practice guidance to provide more clarity

for local planning authorities and other stakeholders in relation to the
application of the Habitats Regulations in the planning system.

Agricultural nitrogen: 
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• DEFRA are reviewing the effectiveness of measures to tackle pollution
from agriculture including catchment sensitive farming.

• DEFRA are continuing work on Environmental Land Management (ELM),
which will create a system that will pay farmers for public goods, including
improvements in soil, air and water quality.

The Chairman thanked Catherine for her detailed update. 

The Chairman then invited Debbie Tan and John Durnell from the Hampshire and 
Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust to address the Joint Committee to deliver a 
presentation on a potential mitigation solution. The land Offsetting scheme was 
outlined to Members of the Joint Committee which provides a potential quick and 
simple solution. The Joint Committee were supportive of the scheme but agreed 
there were several issues which needed to be discussed in more detail, such as; 
the amount of land available to offset, cost per property, how contracts would be 
arranged etc. It was agreed as per the recommendation that a plan be worked on 
for the scheme’s potential implementation. 

A copy of the presentation will be published with these Minutes. 

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee: - 

a) NOTES the representations made to MHCLG requesting that the period for
the end of the transitional arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test (as
specified in the National Planning Policy Framework) should be extended
beyond 2020, so that completions in 2022/23 can be counted;

b) NOTES that PfSH has made representations to MHCLG to support a
request from members for financial support from government under New
Burdens Funding, towards the additional costs and workload to local
authorities in dealing with the consequences of the nutrient neutrality issue;

c) NOTES that PfSH will continue to work closely with MHCLG and DEFRA to
find both short and medium/long term solutions and to SEEK support to
assist us in achieving these;

d) ENDORSES PfSH's continued investigation into potential medium/long-term
mitigation solutions to provide a strategic PfSH wide approach, including
with wider local authority partners beyond PfSH members;

e) NOTES that PfSH continues to seek potential options for funding to support
potential mitigation measures;

f) NOTES that PfSH continues to engage with Solent LEP about how to fund
a mitigation scheme for the sub-region along the same lines as the Solent
Recreation Mitigation Strategy (SRMS) ‘Bird Aware Solent’;

g) AGREES that local authorities work up a plan for the potential
implementation of the HIWWT nutrient offsetting scheme within their
borough/district, to include issues of catchment inclusion, s106
enforceability and allocation of credits; and

h) ENDORSES PfSH's investigation into the options for a dedicated officer
resource for PfSH to work on the nutrient neutrality issue and wider Habitats
Regulations and internationally designated sites matters, to reflect the
specialist nature and workload volume associated with addressing the
issues.
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10. BIRD AWARE SOLENT – SOLENT RECREATION MITIGATION PARTNERSHIP
STRATEGY

The Joint Committee received a report from Anna Parry, which seeks approval of
the 2020/21 Bird Aware Solent (Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership) budget.

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTES and ENDORSES the Solent
Recreation Mitigation Partnership's 2020/21 budget request.

11. CULTURE, CREATIVE INDUSTRIES AND BUILT ENVIRONMENT

The Joint Committee received a report from Charles Freeman outlining the work of
the Culture Creative Industries and Built Environments theme panel during
2019/20.

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee: -

a) NOTES the delivery of Solent Quality Place awards (see section);

b) NOTES Progress in developing refreshed Quality Place Design Guidance
(see section);

c) NOTES the work of the panel in relation to the creative economy. The work
programme priorities in this area include: -

o Influencing the Solent Local Industrial Strategy
o Supporting the Solent apprenticeship hub in promoting the take-

up of creative and digital apprenticeships
o Establishing creative industry business support
o Supporting the development of a creative industries related

event programme;

d) NOTES that The Panel is supporting a series of applications to Arts Council
England to secure funding for creative industries business support. The
outcome of these applications will not be known until financial year 2020-21.
The Panel therefore requests that £30 000 from 2019-20 budget be carried
forward to support these applications; and

e) Agrees that £12 500 be added to the PfSH base budget for 2020-21 to
continue the work of the panel (see section)

- £10,000 would be used support the work of Creative Network South
- £ 2,500 to cover costs of facilitating panel activities.

12. SOUTHAMPTON BID FOR UK CITY OF CULTURE DESIGNATION 2025

The Joint Committee received a verbal update from Sandy Hopkins, providing
Members with an overview of the work around Southampton City Council’s UK
City of Culture 2025 bid.

RESOLVED that the Joint Committee NOTES the work around Southampton City
Council's bid for UK City of Culture 2025.
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(The meeting started at 5:30pm and ended at 7:06pm) 

(NB: The next meeting of the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) Joint 
Committee will be held on 24 March 2020). 
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Item 8 

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  07 July 2020 

Report of: Claire Upton-Brown, Chairman PfSH Planning Officers Group 

Subject:     STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND – PROGRESS 

SUMMARY 

This report provides an update on progress towards the Statement of Common 
Ground. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTES the progress made on the 
Statement of Common Ground set out in this report. 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. The Joint Committee agreed a draft framework for the Statement of Common
Ground (SoCG) at its meeting in October 2019. The report also set out a
broad, draft timetable for the five workstreams that were included in the draft
framework for the SoCG.  The Joint Committee also received a report updating
progress on the SoCG in February this year.

PROGRESS MADE ON STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND 

2. A workshop for leaders and chief executives was held immediately after the
Joint Committee meeting on the 10 February.  During the workshop Leaders
and chief executives received updates on:

 The ongoing work of the PfSH Planning Officers Group (POG) to prepare
the Statement of Common Ground to support the production of a new Joint
Strategy

 The evidence base being developed being by the POG
 The national context for strategic planning

3. At the workshop leaders and chief executives agreed the key drivers, what the
Joint Strategy should include/aim to do, the timetable and ‘next steps’ for the
work.

4. Procurement of consultants to undertake the potential strategic development
opportunity area comparative assessments and transport impact assessments
and modelling has now been concluded. Stantec and ITP (Integrated
Transport Planning) have been appointed to undertake the respective studies.
The tender award decisions have been made and the short period of time
during which any aggrieved party can challenge the decisions has passed.
The inception meeting has been held and the contract can now be concluded.

5. The POG has now agreed the brief for the procurement of consultants to
undertake the Economic, Employment and Commercial Needs (including
logistics) Study. The procurement process is now underway, and it is expected
that a consultant will be appointed by early August.

6. The procurement process for consultants to undertake the evidence base
studies has been delayed due to circumstances related to the coronavirus
pandemic. Given the delays to commencing procurement of consultants that
had already occurred since the Joint Committee agreed the broad draft
timetable for the work in October 2019, the timetable will need to be revisited.
The PfSH consultant project manager is working with the project managers
from the successful consultancies and will take account of the methodology
and timetable in the detailed bids for the employment study before proposing
revisions to the timetable. However, it is expected that the original target date
for concluding the studies and presentations to Joint Committee in January
2021 will need to be extended.

7. The POG has considered a paper that set out the methodology and timetable
for the Urban Capacity Assessment. This work focuses on assessing the
potential for development at locations in Gosport, Portsmouth and

Page 14 of 78



Southampton, as well as windfall rates across the sub-region. Technical work 
is being undertaken and it is anticipated that the results of that work should be 
available to inform the update to the SoCG. 

8. The POG is due to consider a paper on the Housing Market Areas Housing
Product Delivery Report at its meeting on the 26th June.  The paper will set out
the proposed scope and requirements for the report for consideration by the
POG.  Following agreement on these matters a detailed brief to procure
consultants can be drafted.  A timetable that delivers the final report by Q1
2021 is still possible, although should there be any delays to the procurement
process or issues concerning the availability of consultants and/or PfSH local
authority staff, it may need revising.

NEXT STEPS 

9. The Joint Committee agreed the draft framework for the SoCG in October
2019. The information contained in the draft framework for the SoCG,
particularly around housing need and supply, needs to be updated.  Progress
on delivering the evidence base workstreams should also be included,
alongside further information on the process and timetable for preparing the
new Joint Strategy.

10. The proposed updates to the SoCG will be agreed by the POG before
consideration by the Joint Committee – likely to be the meeting on the 30th

September.  At this stage it would also be appropriate for the draft framework
for the SoCG to be formalised into a signed SoCG (i.e. not a ‘draft framework’)
so that it will subsequently have more weight in assisting the local planning
authorities in demonstrating constructive and positive cooperation on strategic
matters at local plan examinations.

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTES the progress made on the 
Statement of Common Ground set out in this report. 

Background Papers:  

None 

Reference Papers:  

Draft Framework for PfSH Statement of Common Ground – Report to PfSH Joint 
Committee 14 October 2019 

Statement of Common Ground – Progress – Report to PfSH Joint Committee 10 
February 2020 
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Enquiries:  

For further information on this report please contact:- 

Claire Upton-Brown, Chairman PfSH Planning Officers Group 
T: 02380 285588 
E: claire.upton-brown@nfdc.gov.uk  
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Report to the 
Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  07 July 2020 

Report of: Paddy May, PfSH Coordinator 

Subject: PfSH CO-ORDINATOR'S REPORT  

SUMMARY 

The Co-ordinator's report provides an opportunity for issues which are significant, but 
do not justify a full report in their own right, to be brought to the attention of the Joint 
Committee for decision or for information. The report is divided into Parts A and B 
accordingly. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:- 

a) AGREES that the existing 2019-20 PfSH Business Plan is rolled forward for
2020-21 and that work takes place to present a medium term business plan
from 2021; and

b) NOTES the matters for Information outlined in Part B of this report

Item 9 
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PART A: MATTERS FOR DECISION 

1. Business Plan

In June 2019 the PfSH Joint Committee agreed a business plan for 2019-20 and also 
agreed that work should take place in the Spring of 2020 to agree a medium term 
business plan from 2020. With most councils concentrating on their Covid-19 response 
during that time and with the context within which PfSH is going to be operating not 
yet clear, it is recommended that the existing PfSH Business Plan (see Appendix 1) 
is rolled forward for one year. The leads for the different workstreams will be asked to 
identify what they envisage achieving with their resources for this year and the 
progress against this will be reported through the Coordinator's Report. With the "new 
normal" likely to be clearer in the Autumn, it is recommended that work takes place in 
the Spring of 2021 to agree a medium term business plan for PfSH which can be 
approved this time next year. 

PART B: MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

2. Planning & Infrastructure

2.1 Statement of Common Ground 

An update on progress towards developing a PfSH-wide Statement of Common 
Ground and regional 'vision' is included on the main agenda for the Joint Committee 
Meeting.  

2.2 Strategic Recreation and Mitigation Partnership (Bird Aware) Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

Joint Committee have asked for KPIs on Bird Aware engagement to be reported and 
during the period of 1 January to 13* March 2020 the Ranger team delivered the 
following outreach activities: 

 Site Visits            350 
 People interacted with on-site       5,218 
 Events              21 
 People interacted with at events 933 

(*For the remainder of the winter season (14 to 31 March) issues related to Covid-19 prevented any 
further face-to-face outreach activities and the Rangers were kept busy analysing the data they had 
collected throughout the season.)  

The focus of the Rangers activities is different during the summer months to the winter 
season owing to the birds not being present on the coastline during the summer. The 
direct engagement activities tend to focus on exhibiting at events, but owing to Covid-
19 all planned events have been cancelled. During this time the Rangers have been 
prioritising desk based tasks, engagement via social media and presenting 
educational videos as well as continued liaison with site owners and managers. 
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During the same period 1 January to 31 May, the Brand and Communications Lead 
has also created several media opportunities and continued to grow the social media 
presence as follows: 

 Number and % growth of social media followers on each platform since
last update

o Twitter – 258 - 17%
o Facebook – 245 –22%
o Instagram – 389 –77%

 Impressions (number of times seen) for each social media platform
o Twitter – 600k
o Facebook – 265k
o Instagram – 149k

 Number of posts on social media
o Twitter - 439
o Facebook - 190
o Instagram posts and stories – 121

 Press releases
o 5 in total  (1 each month)

 The number of web stories uploaded
o 10 added to the section ‘Blog’
o 4 added to the section ‘The Solent Schooner’
o A ‘Lockdown Learning’ section created

Monitoring 
Monitoring work has to date been undertaken in line with the original guidance from 
the baseline research, and has collected four of the initial five years' worth of data to 
help inform decisions related to the effectiveness of the strategy.  

As a result of COVID-19, it is predicted that use and management of the coastline this 
coming winter is unlikely to be representative of a normal year, therefore it has been 
decided to delay the next round of formal monitoring for a year. In the meantime, 
rangers will seek to undertake a scaled back version of the planned monitoring 
activities so that the impact of COVID-19 on use of the coastline and the work of the 
Partnership can be captured in some form. 

Site Specific Projects 
The proposed bird refuge on Hayling Island will no longer go ahead. This project had 
been allocated £200k site specific project funding for 2020/21.The Project Board has 
decided not to support a replacement project within this financial year, but will review 
this decision in October with the possibility of reallocating these funds to support 
additional projects in future years. 

Staffing Levels 
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The Partnership will be employing three seasonal rangers this coming winter. Their 
duties will likely differ to previous years due to social distancing measures 
necessitating a reduction in face-to-face interactions and the Partnership's decision 
that a form of monitoring will be undertaken internally this year. 

2.3 Water Management 

An update on progress towards developing a strategy for achieving nutrient neutrality 
for new housing development across the PfSH region is included on the main agenda 
for Joint Committee 7 July. 

3. Update from Culture, Creative Industries and the Built Environment

Following the successful pilot in Southampton, Creative Growth South (CNS) 
https://www.creativegrowthsouth.co.uk/ has been relaunched to provide free sector-
specific business advice to creative businesses across South Hampshire.  Please 
promote this service to any creative businesses you feel might benefit. The 
service is particularly targeted at micro creatives and freelancers. One-to-one sessions 
are currently being delivered are helping a number of businesses to adjust to working 
in the Covid-19 environment.  

CNS is consulting with partner organisations to find practical ways it can support the 
creative sector, while lockdown measures remain. CNS is also seeking to identify the 
most practical ways it can support the recovery of the creative sector after lockdown.  

CNS in the current year is providing micro grants to Studio Provider Network South, 
DV Mission 48 Hour Film Challenge, Hack Pompey, Ladies Wine and Design 
Southampton, The Maker Guild Portsmouth, and Winchester Design Festival, all of 
whom are helping sustain the community of creative talent in the Solent area.  

Conclusion 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:- 

1. Approves that the existing 2019-20 PfSH Business Plan is rolled forward for
2020-21 and that work takes place next spring to agree a medium term
business plan from 2021; and

2. NOTES the matters for Information outlined in Part B of this report

Appendix 
Appendix 1- PfSH Business Plan for 2019-20 

Background Papers: 
 None
Reference Papers:
 None
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Enquiries: 
For further information on this report please contact: 
Paddy May (PfSH Co-ordinator)  
Tel. No. 023 9283 4020  
E-mail: paddy.may@portsmouthcc.gov.uk
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APPENDIX 1 

PfSH 

Business Plan 

2019-20 

July 2019 
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APPENDIX 1 

PfSH Business Plan: 2019-20 

1. The Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) operates in a changing environment. PfSH needs to

work with a wide range of other agencies to help deliver sustainable growth in the South

Hampshire area. Whilst a number of organisations now have prime responsibility for the policy

agenda that historically was part of the remit of the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire

(PUSH), there is still an important influencing and engagement role for PfSH.

2. We have the prime responsibility collectively to deliver the housing that our communities need,

but we have to do this in a sustainable way that helps protect our vitally important natural

environment and recognises the role that we have collectively to deal with climate change

issues. We also need to make sure that we balance the need to provide housing against the

need for employment land and that we protect some of the unique assets of the area such as

our valuable deep‐water frontages. These support the role of the area as a world leader in the

marine and maritime sector and the role our ports play in the global trading economy

supporting the goals of the 2050 Maritime Strategy.

3. When we published our previous business plan, it was based on the assumption that the

Government was going to approve the setting up of a Mayoral Combined Authority for the

Solent area which would deliver a devolution deal for the Solent area. The Government decided

not to take this forward at that time1 and therefore there is no other mechanism to bring

together authorities to work jointly to deliver our ambitions for the area. It is crucial that PfSH

provides a mechanism to bring partners together to take forward sustainable regeneration and

development in South Hampshire. PfSH brings together the leaders of all the local authorities in

the area to have meaningful discussions on issues of strategic importance and enables collective

decisions to be made on issues which benefit from joint working. With the new revisions to the

National Planning Policy Framework, and the need to prepare Statements of Common Ground,

it is more important than ever that PfSH helps drive forward this collective work.

4. The Government recently announced that the geography of the Solent LEP will change. The

boundary of the Solent LEP now includes the whole of the New Forest District Council

geography and none of Test Valley, Winchester or East Hampshire. This means that the

geography of PfSH is now different to the LEP geography. Whilst this is not an issue in itself, the

exact nature of what this means will need to bed in and so this business plan has been prepared

to cover a 12 month period. A medium term business plan will be prepared from the 2020

municipal year that reflects the changing relationship with the new LEP geographies and the

choice individual councils may make about their relationship with PfSH. It has already been

decided that the whole of New Forest District Council is in the PfSH area and invites for PfSH

membership have been issued to both the South Downs and the New Forest National Park

Authorities. With the whole of New Forest in PfSH, and invites extended to the two national

1 Dan Peters and Naomi Larsson, The Municipal Journal (25th April 2019) pg. 1. Devolution Minister 
Jake berry admitted the Governments repeatedly-delayed devolution framework  this will not be 
published until after Brexit. A Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government said: 'The 
Government remains committed to setting out our approach to devolution and providing clarity for 
local areas. We will look to publish our approach as soon as possible'.  
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parks in the area, PfSH represents the whole of the South Hampshire area and not just the 

urban South Hampshire area. This explains the name change from PUSH to PfSH. 

Vision and role of PfSH 

5. PUSH was formed to deliver regeneration of the core urban areas of the Solent, focused on the

cities of Portsmouth and Southampton. This was in response to economic underperformance;

poor productivity; and poor infrastructure. The adjoining older urban areas are also very much

at the heart of this urban renaissance strategy and PUSH believed that the strong functional and

physical links between the core urban areas, towns and the semi‐rural and rural hinterland had

to form the basis for the proper planning of the Solent area.

6. PUSH pursued an economic regeneration/urban renaissance‐driven strategy and this will

remain the case for PfSH. PfSH believes that a balanced approach, with economic, social and

environmental sustainability at its heart, is the responsible and appropriate way to plan for the

future of South Hampshire with an inclusive and integrated spatial strategy delivering

sustainable communities into the future. Clearly, aspects of this are now dependent on

influencing, and informing, partner organisations such as the Solent LEP and Solent Transport.

7. PfSH accepts and embraces managed and sustainable growth as a policy instrument to help lift

deprived communities and households out of poverty and deprivation, whilst providing a

foundation for the long term security of the quality of life of all the people of the area. This is

dependent on economic prosperity, adequate provision of, and access to, housing to provide

strong, vibrant and healthy communities and protection of our natural assets.

8. The PUSH 2016 Spatial Position Statement was completed in line with the 2012 National

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It was supported by a series of papers and evidence. It

established and distributed the objectively assessed housing needs for PfSH authorities up until

2034, together with employment land to match projected economic growth across the South

East. The need for new homes was influenced by PUSH’s Objectively Assessed Housing Need

Update (April 2016) which analyses demographic and migration trends to establish the overall

need for new homes across South Hampshire. The Spatial Position Statement focused

development on urban areas first, and is then distributed according to environmental, transport

and other infrastructure factors. The 7th June 2016 PUSH Joint Committee noted the completion

and approved the 2016 Spatial Position Statement. Furthermore, it was for each PUSH authority

to implement the Spatial Position Statement through their respective Local Plan, as the local

planning authority.

9. At the 15th October 2018 PUSH Joint Committee, following the publication of the 2018 NPPF

and relevant Planning Policy Guidance (PPG), it was agreed that PfSH authorities should work

together under the Duty to Co‐operate to seek to produce a Statement of Common Ground

(SOCG). This will have regard to the new standard methodology for identifying housing need

within an area as well as the new Housing Delivery test. PfSH will work together to identify how

these new requirements can be met collectively. In addition, the Joint Committee also gave

authority for PUSH authorities to explore the production of an Infrastructure Investment Plan

(IIP) working alongside colleagues in the wider Hampshire area.

10. The key role for PUSH in the current sub‐regional framework can now be summarised as

follows:
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 Productivity and quality of life

 Providing the planning and environmental policy input to a triumvirate of sub‐

regional leadership organisations alongside the Solent LEP and Solent Transport

 Working together to form an evidence base to support Local Plan work

 Encouraging conditional, managed growth through the adoption of a Plan, Monitor

and Manage approach to land release and plan review, with development

conditional on timely and adequate infrastructure provision;

 Working with others to understand the infrastructure needed to support growth and

to secure necessary and timely enhancements to infrastructure (covering transport,

energy, flood protection, air quality, water supply and waste water treatment, social

and community facilities, education and healthcare provision and green

infrastructure) to support and enable new development and addressing existing

infrastructure deficits;

 Adopting an evidence base to support a strong policy protection for strategic gaps

(possibly with green belt designation), designated nature conservation and

protected landscapes, and areas of high quality built environment;

 Achieving the highest environmental standards for new development particularly in

terms of resource conservation and reduction of environmental impact, by the

application of consistent standards and policy approaches in partner authorities’

local development documents covering the PfSH area;

 Working collectively to deal with climate change issues and make sure that the South

Hampshire area is doing what it can help to help support this international agenda

 Delivering enhancements to the green infrastructure and high quality design in the

built environment to consolidate and improve the environment and quality of life of

the sub region and to promote urban renaissance;

 Promoting locally‐led and democratically accountable leadership, management and

delivery of the vision and spatial planning for the sub‐region and securing the

participation and engagement of communities, and which recognises the key role of

the private sector in delivering growth.

 Working with partner agencies to lobby on behalf of the South Hampshire area and

also to influence local agencies so that they help achieve the aims of PfSH.

Priorities 

11. In order to deliver this vision the overall priorities for PfSH are to:

o Provide democratic leadership for South Hampshire.

o PfSH is a formal Joint Committee that allows for democratic debate on issues

affecting the sub‐region and democratic legitimacy to sub‐regional decisions. It

is complementary to the decision making of individual local authorities and

provides input and collective decisions to issues that impact on the sub‐region

o Ensuring sustainable development in South Hampshire
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o Delivering housing but protecting the unique characteristics of the area and

ensuring that it remains an attractive place to live and work. PfSH is aware that

there is a need to provide significant numbers of new houses in the area for our

local communities but this has to be done in a way that is not detrimental to our

environment now or in the future. PfSH provides the overall governance for Bird

Aware Solent. Bird Aware Solent supports the recreational mitigation that is in

place to support coastal housing development. PfSH also works with

government agencies to ensure that our development meets environmental

requirements and that other organisations such as utility companies do what

they need to do

o Delivering employment space and support specific sectors to increase

productivity and support economic growth within the sub‐region

o Respond to climate change issues in a collective way

o Voice for South Hampshire

o As previously explained PfSH is part of a triumvirate of key strategic

organisations (with Solent LEP and Solent Transport) that manage the policy

agenda in the sub‐region. Collectively we need to work better together to lobby

the Government, working with local MPs, to make sure we obtain the funding

that we need to meet our needs. There is a large infrastructure deficit in the

South Hampshire area and we need to do more to understand the deficiencies

and the impact that is having on growth and use the evidence to help get the

funding that we need. Initiatives such as the Hampshire Housing Deal will help

and PfSH can support the lobbying for this and similar initiatives, including

through the provision of an appropriate evidence base. Collectively we have a

stronger voice.

o Simplifying interfaces

o PfSH brings together key organisations at both a political and managerial level.

This aids joint working and also supports the plan making of PfSH member

councils. PfSH also provide the mechanism for organisations to engage with the

local democratic voice collectively in the sub‐region. PfSH can simplify interfaces

with, and for, other organisations and can therefore have more influence.

12. PfSH also provides a mechanism to link with bodies and policy initiatives outside of the PfSH

geography but which are still relevant to PfSH. An example of this would be the Green Halo

Partnership

13. These priorities are evidenced through the following objectives for PfSH for 2019‐20:

Specific objectives and activity 

Planning & Infrastructure 

Supporting sustainable housing development 
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 Duty to Cooperate / Statement of Common Ground

o Procure / commission a Project Manager to drive forward the work associated with

preparing the Statement of Common Ground

o Agree the evidence base that will be required to support planned housing and

employment growth development in South Hampshire

o Commission the work required to produce this evidence base including looking at

how to take forward the South Hampshire Green Belt policy initiative

o Prepare the draft Statement of Common Ground

 Develop a mitigation strategy dealing with nitrates to ensure that development can

continue in South Hampshire

Infrastructure and resources  

 Commission the work required to produce an Infrastructure Investment Plan for South

Hampshire linking in with the work of HIPOG that is producing the Infrastructure Plan for

the whole of Hampshire and the Isle of Wight

 Where appropriate, support the development of the Hampshire Housing Deal with

Government

 The Air Quality sub‐group to investigate the production of an Air Quality SPD for the PUSH

area and if necessary ensure the appropriate processes are in place for formal approval of

the SPD

 The Water Quality Group to identify how to deal with the nitrate neutrality issue and if

necessary accelerate the production of the Water Quality Strategy and potential strategic

mitigation solutions

14. The February Joint Committee agreed an interim revenue allocation of £20,000 alongside any

carry forward to support the Planning and Infrastructure work. In addition it has been agreed

that the work on the Statement of Common Ground and Infrastructure Plan will be funded

through direct contributions from individual authorities.

Culture, Creative Industries and the Built Environment 

 Creative business support

o Extend the creative industries business support programme from the Southampton

area so that it includes the Portsmouth area and use the agreed PUSH funding to

bring in matched funding to develop the programme

o Promote good quality urban design with the production of a series of design

bulletins and hold a design awards, if necessary holding it in conjunction with an

existing award ceremony

o Support Creative Network South and other creative networks within the PfSH area
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o Engage with the Solent LEP to understand how PfSH can complement the LEPs

activity in this area

15. The February Joint Committee agreed an interim revenue allocation of £33,000 alongside a

carry forward of £10,000 to support this work and funding bids that will be made.

The Solent environment  

 Provide the overall governance for Bird Aware Solent including the approval of the new

Service Level Agreement to provide the ranger service.

 Approve the Green Infrastructure Implementation Plan and identify how to take forward

the Strategic Green Infrastructure Proposals including how to fund them

 Protect existing open space and habitats and recognise the role of assets beyond the

boundary of PUSH (this links to the evidence base needed for the  Statement of Common

Ground including the work on the Green Belt). This includes building on the New Forest

mitigation work underway (which involves 4 PfSH local authorities as well as the New

Forest National Park Authority).

 Engage with other agencies to understand how PfSH can support the Government's new 25

Year Environment Plan

 Now that innovative energy storage projects have been shown to be aligned to the LEPs

Energy Strategy see how best to take these projects forward and also see how else PfSH

can support the Solent LEP's Energy Strategy

 Investigate what the PfSH authorities can collectively do to address climate change issues

and bring a report to Joint Committee to enable this to happen

 Explore whether there is an appetite and capacity to develop an Energy Company for PfSH

16. To date the PfSH Joint Committee has not agreed any additional funding for this work. Some

activity will be undertaken through work on the Planning and Infrastructure theme e.g. Green

Belt, some through alternative resources e.g. Bird Aware and some through the contributions of

individual local authorities e.g. climate change response. The Joint Committee had previously

agreed to fund two innovative Energy Storage Projects (£30k in total) subject to their alignment

with the LEPs Energy Strategy. This alignment has been confirmed. £10,000 has also been

carried forward to support the Low Carbon Economy Project over the next two years.

Promoting the PUSH area 

 Work with other sub‐regional bodies (for example the Solent LEP and Solent Transport) to

develop a lobbying strategy for the South Hampshire area

 Lobby for the PfSH area to be able to access the replacement of EU funding to meet our

specific needs (the UK Shared Prosperity Fund)
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 Identify how PfSH can support the activity of other bodies such as Solent LEP for the LIS

and Solent Transport

 Develop the role and effectiveness of the newly formed leaders group to shape and lobby

for the sub regional agenda

17. This activity will be supported through existing resources and if necessary a proposal for funding

will be developed as part of the Lobbying Strategy.

Other activity 

 Review the PfSH Joint Agreement (with the recognition that the Current Joint Agreement is

based on the link to the Solent Growth Forum which is changing). Look to see how the Joint

Agreement can be modernised and made to be more in keeping with best practice in

governance and how PfSH can interface with the new Solent Leaders' Forum

 Clarify funding and membership for PUSH given the changes to the NPPF and the LEP

boundary

 Develop and agree a medium term business plan from 2020/21 ‐ 2024/25

 Inform and input to the Local Industrial Strategy

 Seek to support the 2050 Maritime Strategy through land use policies

18. This activity will be supported through existing resources.
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Report to the  

Partnership for South Hampshire  

Joint Committee 
Date:  07 July 2020  

Report of: John Harrison, Executive Director – Finance & Commercialisation 

Subject: PfSH CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20 
AND CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS 2020/21 

SUMMARY 

This report summarises the outturn against the budget for the financial year 2019/20. 
This report also updates the proposed capital and revenue budgets for 2020/21, based 
on the anticipated level of resources available and the priorities for the partnership. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee: - 

a) NOTES the outturn for the financial year 2019/20 (Table 2),

b) APPROVES the Statement of Accounts for the 2019/20 financial year
and the Annual Governance Statement (Appendix 1); and

c) APPROVES the proposed capital and revenue budgets for 2020/21 as
set out in the report (Tables 4 & 5).

 Item 10 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This report sets out the final outturn expenditure position against the capital and
revenue budgets for 2019/20, and the proposed capital and revenue budgets for
the financial year 2020/21.

RESOURCES 

2. Table 1 below shows the estimated PUSH resources that were expected to be
available for 2019/20, the actual income received and the expected resources
available for 2020/21.

3. The expected resources for the financial year 2020/21 are the partnership
balances carried forward from 2020/21, and the expected interest on balances
held by SCC on behalf of PUSH.

4. The totals for capital and revenue resources are the control totals for the budgets
detailed below.

Table 1: Total Resources Available 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 

Approved 
Budget  

Actual 
received 
to end 
Mar 20 

Proposed 
Budget  

£000 £000 £000 
Revenue Funds 
Core funding (local authorities) 65 56 75 
Other contributions 0 0 0 
Interest on balances 3 3 3 
Underspend c/f from previous year 263 263 193 
Sub-Total 331 322 271
Capital Funds 
Local Growth Fund to support SRM Projects 571 571 542 
Total Resources 902 893 813 

5. The reduced core funding received was lower than the approved budget due to
the Isle of Wight Council terminating their membership before the start of the year,
therefore no contributions were due despite being included in the original budget.

6. There are proposed partner contributions for 2020/21 of £75,000 following
approval by the Joint Committee in February 2020 to reintroduce subscriptions.
The capital funding is from the Solent LEP Local Growth Fund to support Solent
Recreation Mitigation projects. This grant funding has to be spent by March 2021.

FINAL OUTTURN 2019/20 - REVENUE 

7. Table 2 below sets out the revenue budget for 2019/20, originally approved by
the Joint Committee in June 2019 and the actual outturn.

Table 2: Revenue Allocations 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 

Approved 
Budget  

Spend 
to end 
Mar 20 

Under/ 
(Over) 
Spend 
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£000 £000 £000 
Planning & Infrastructure 50 42 8 
Energy & Green Economy 44 0 44 
Culture, Creative Industries & the Built 
Environment 

44 18 26 

European Collaboration Group 7 0 0 
Core Projects & Central Costs 75 70 5 
Total Core and Panel Budgets 220 130 90 
Unallocated Balances 111 0 111 
Total 331 130 331

8. Updates on the work of the delivery panels are included in the Co-ordinator’s
report to each of the Joint Committee meetings.

9. The Core Projects & Central Costs budget reflects commitments relating to
staffing costs and other ongoing revenue activities led by the PUSH central team.

10. Unallocated Balances - There were no additional allocations to delivery panels
during the year from unallocated balances. The balance will be used to fund
potential future work of the partnership as and when opportunities arise.

FINAL OUTTURN 2019/20 AND PROPOSED BUDGET 2020/21 - CAPITAL  

11. PfSH previously secured funding under the Solent LEP Local Growth Deal, for
projects to create and enhance publically accessible greenspaces, as part of the
Solent Recreation Mitigation Project (SRMP). The allocations to projects are set
out in table 4 below.

Table 4: Capital Allocations 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 

Solent Recreation Mitigation Project 
Approved 

Budget  

Spend 
to end  
Mar 20 

Proposed 
Budget 

£000 £000 £000 
Horsea Island, Portsmouth 269 269 
Shoreburs Greenway, Southampton 77 29 48 
Hayling Island, Havant 225 225 
Total 571 29 542

12. During the year the Shoreburs Greenway project made a claim of funding of
£52,000. The expenditure on this project in 2019/20 represents payment of this
claim, less a 15% retention pending a satisfactory post completion project
evaluation report. No claims were received from the Horsea Island project. All
projects need to be completed by March 2021.

2019/20 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

13.  The Statement of Accounts for the 2019/20 financial year and the Annual
Governance Statement are presented for approval in Appendix 1. These
statements have been reviewed by internal audit and, based on the testing
conducted, assurance has been given that adequate financial systems and
controls are in place for the administration of the PfSH accounts.
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PROPOSED BUDGET 2020/21 - REVENUE 

14. The revenue allocations in table 4 are proposed for 2020/21.  The allocations for
the three delivery panels include carry forward requests, along with the new
funding requests in the interim budget as approved in February 2020.

15. At the February 2020 Joint Committee meeting, as part of Item 11 on the Culture,
Creative Industries & the Built Environment Panel, a carry forward of £30,000 was
agreed to be being used as matched funding for a bid to the Arts Council to enable
the Creative Industries Support to cover a wider area than just Southampton. A
base budget for the panel of £12,500 for 2020/21 was also agreed. This is to be
split as £10,000 funding for Creative Networks South and £2,500 for panel support.

16. An allocation of £75,000 has been earmarked for core activities in line with previous
years.

Table 5: Revenue Allocations 2020/21 Carry 
Forwards 

from 
2020/21 

2020/21 
Budget 

Allocation 

2020/21 
Proposed 

Budget 

£000 £000 £000 
Planning & Infrastructure 
Energy & Green Economy 
Culture, Creative Industries & the Built 
Environment 

30 13 43

Replacement of European Collaboration 
Group 
Core Projects & Central Costs 75 75 
Total Core and Panel Budgets 30 88 117 

17. It is proposed that an Unallocated Balance of around £150,000 will be maintained
to enable the partnership to have resources available to react to potential future
opportunities as they arise.

Table 6: Unallocated balances 

£000 
Balance brought forward 263 
To fund 2019/20 expenditure (130) 
Contribution income 2019/20 56 
Interest income 2019/20 3 
Balance 2019/20 193 
To fund carry forwards in 2021/21 (30) 
To fund 2020/21 budget (88) 
Contribution income 2020/21 75 
Interest income 2020/21 3 
Unallocated Balances 153 
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CONCLUSION 

This Committee is recommended to:- 

a) NOTES the outturn for the financial year 2019/20 (Table 2);

b) APPROVES the Statement of Accounts for the 2019/20 financial year and the
Annual Governance Statement (Appendix 1); and

c) APPROVES the proposed capital and revenue budgets for 2020/21 as set out
in the report (Tables 4 & 5).

Background Papers:  

Appendix 1 - Statement of Accounts for the 2019/20 financial year and the Annual 
Governance Statement 
Joint Committee 10 February 2020 – Item 7: Budget Report  
Joint Committee 10 February 2020 – Item 11: Culture Creative Industries & the Built 
Environment 

Enquiries:  
For further information on this report please contact: 

John Harrison, Executive Director – 
Finance & Commercialisation  
T: 023 8083 4897 
E: john.harrison@southampton.gov.uk  

Jon Evans, Finance Business Partner 
T: 023 8083 3162 
E: jonathan.evans @southampton.gov.uk   
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EXPLANATORY FOREWORD 

1. Introduction

This document contains the Partnership for South Hampshire’s (PfSH) Statement of
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020. The format of the Statement follows that
which was approved by the Joint Committee in June 2013.

The pattern of presentation of the statement was laid down by a code of practice, and
was as agreed with the Audit Commission.  This foreword contains:

 a summary of the various statements which make up the 2019/20 accounts;

 a broad picture of where the money comes from and what it is spent on; and

 a summary of the revenue expenditure on services and capital expenditure over
the course of the year.

2. Smaller Bodies Audit

This audit requirement has been withdrawn following the closure of the Audit
Commission at the end of March 2015.

3. Summary of Statement of Accounts.

The accounts for 2019/20 are set out on pages 6 to 18.  They consist of the following:

 Statement of Accounting Policies – sets out the policies adopted by the Joint
Committee in preparing the Accounts.

 Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts – records the
respective responsibilities of the Joint Committee and Chief Financial Officer.

 Income and Expenditure Account – reports the net cost for the year of all the
functions for which the Joint Committee is responsible and how they have been
financed.

 Statement of Movement on General Fund Balance – discloses the adjustments
necessary to determine the movement on the General Fund Balance

 Balance Sheet – this sets out the financial position on 31 March 2020.

 Cash Flow Statement - this summarises cash coming in or going out from
transactions with others for revenue and capital purposes.

In addition, the Annual Governance Statement, which reviews the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control, is included on pages 19 to 24 

4. Overall financial position

As PFSH is not able to own any assets, the balance sheet total mainly represents the 
balance of funding being carried forward to the next financial year to fund ongoing PFSH 
programmes. The balance sheet position as at 31 March 2020 reflects a decrease of
£99,000 compared to the previous year.

The Capital Programme in 2019/20 is funded by grant funding from the Local Growth 
Deal for the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project
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Revenue funding for 2019/20 was made up of carried forward of balances from 2018/19 
and in year partner contributions as the partners opted to reinstate contributions 
following a two-year contribution holiday.  

Carry forward balances from 2019/20 will be used to part fund the 2020/21 programme. 
Subscriptions will continue 2020/21 as agreed by the Joint Committee on 10th February 
2020. This will enable the partnership to fund committed projects, undertake work in 
2020/21 and also maintain an appropriate level of resources in reserves.  

5. Where the money comes from

The Joint Committee’s income in 2019/20 came from the carry forward of balances
along with interest earned on those balances. See Table 1 below for details.

Table 1: Total Resources Available 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 

Approved 
Budget  

Actual 
received 

Difference 

£000s £000s £000s 

Revenue Funds 

Core funding (local authorities) 65 56 (9) 

Other contributions 0 0 0 

Interest on balances 3 4 1 

Underspend c/f from previous year 263 263 0 

Sub-Total 331 323 (8)

Capital Funds 

Local Growth Deal (DCLG) 571 571 0 

Total Resources 902 894 (8) 
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6. Overview of the year – revenue expenditure

The main components of the 2019/20 revenue budget and actual expenditure are set
out in Table 2 below.

Table 2 Revenue Allocations 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 

Approved 
Budget  

Total 
Spend 

Under/ 
(Over) 
Spend 

£000s £000s £000s 
Planning & Infrastructure 50 42 8 
Energy & Green Economy 44 0 44 
Culture, Creative Industries and the Built 
Environment 

44 18 26

European Collaboration Group 7 0 7 
Core Projects & Central Costs 75 70 5 
Unallocated Balances 173 0 173 
Total 393 130 263

7. Overview of the year – capital expenditure

The main components of the 2019/20 capital budget and actual expenditure are set out
in Table 3 below

Table 3 Capital Allocations 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 

Approved 
Budget 

Total 
Spend 

Under/ 
(Over) 
Spend 

£000s £000s £000s 
Local Growth Deal – Horsea Island 269 269 
Local Growth Deal – Shoreburs Footpath 77 29 48 
Local Growth Deal – Hayling Island 225 225 
Total 571 29 542 

8. Further information

Further information can be obtained about the accounts from John Harrison, the Chief
Financial Officer to the Partnership for South Hampshire Joint Committee at the Finance
Department, Southampton City Council, The Civic Centre, Southampton, Hampshire,
S014 7LY, telephone 023 8083 4897 or Email john.harrison@southampton.gov.uk.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. General principles

1.1 The accounts have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting practice. 
Any significant non-compliance is explained in the following notes. 

2. Debtors and creditors

2.1 Debtors and creditors have been accrued in accordance with standard accounting 
practice. 

3. Reserves and provisions

3.1 Specific amounts are set aside as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts in the Statement of 
Movement on the General Fund Balance. Expenditure on items for which the reserves 
were originally created is shown as service expenditure in the Income and Expenditure 
Account and then transferred back into the General Fund Balance Statement so that 
there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. Variations to earmarked 
reserves are shown in the notes to the accounts. 

3.2 Provisions represent legal liabilities when the amount or date of payment is uncertain. 
They are charged to the revenue account in the year they are recognised.  

3.3 PFSH currently maintains no such reserves or provisions. 

4. Non-current Assets

4.1 PFSH does not own any non-current assets. 

5. Specific Revenue Government Grants

5.1 Government grants for specific purposes are included in the accounts on the basis of 
the grant conditions that apply. These grants are shown against the relevant service in 
the Income and Expenditure Account. 

5.2 PFSH did not received any grants during 2019/20. PFSH previously secured funding as 
part of the Solent LEP Local Growth Deal for projects to create and enhance publically 
accessible greenspaces under the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project (SRMP). A 
remaining balance of funding of £571,000 was carried forward into 2019/20 to facilitate 
the delivery of the Solent Recreation Mitigation Project. This grant has been partially 
spent in 2019/20 and the remaining balance has been carried forward to 2020/21. 

6. Financial Instruments

6.1 In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102) long-term debtors, debtors, 
payments in advance and temporary lending are classified as loans and receivable 
financial instruments. Creditors, receipts in advance and temporary and long-term 
borrowing are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.   

6.2 The Joint Committee has not granted any soft loans. 
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7. Corporate and Democratic Core Expenditure

7.1 Expenditure incurred on the corporate management team is deemed to be across all 
areas of PFSH activities, and has not been re-allocated to any specific PFSH activity. 

8. Service Expenditure Analysis

8.1 Expenditure has been allocated directly to the relevant service line, and there has been 
no apportionment of any expenditure. 

9. Accounting for VAT

9.1 Claims for re-imbursement from other local authorities are paid net of VAT. Any claims 
from other bodies not able to reclaim VAT are paid gross. 

10. Interest

10.1 Interest is calculated using the average 7 day Libid (London Interbank Bid Rate) on the 
average fund balance held by Southampton City Council on behalf of PFSH. 

11. Liquid Resources and Cash

11.1 The Joint Committee includes cash in its categorisation of liquid resources on the basis 
that this is actually held as cash.  No other resources are held that are readily convertible 
to cash. 

12. Fair Value

12.1 All financial assets and financial liabilities carried in the statements are short term so 
have been valued at face value, which is a reasonable assessment of fair value. 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS - JOINT 
COMMITTEE          

1. The Joint Committee’s responsibilities

The Joint Committee is required:

 To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to
ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those
affairs.  For this Joint Committee, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer.

 To manage its affairs so as to secure economic, efficient and effective use of
resources and safeguard its assets.

 To approve the Statement of Accounts.

2. The Chairman’s Statement

I certify that the Statement of Accounts for 2019/20 were considered and approved at
the Joint Committee meeting on 7th July 2020

Councillor Seán Woodward 

Chairman – Joint Committee 

7th July 2020 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS - CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER      

1. The Chief Financial Officer’s responsibilities

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Joint Committee’s
Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as was agreed with the Audit
Commission.

In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has sought to:

 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,

 make judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.

The Chief Financial Officer has also: 

 kept proper records which are up to date,

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

2. The Chief Financial Officer’s statement

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents fairly the financial position of the
Partnership for South Hampshire as at 31 March 2020 and its income and expenditure
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

John Harrison  

Chief Financial Officer 

7th July 2020 
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APPENDIX 1 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 

Net 
Expenditure 

2018/19   
Revenue 

Expenditure 
Specific 
Income 

Net 
Revenue 

Expenditure 

Payments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net 
Expenditure 

2019/20 
£ £ £ £ £ £

Cultural, Environmental and Planning Services: 
20,529 Planning and Infrastructure 41,890 41,890  41,890

Energy & Green Economy 
26,500 Culture, Creative Industries & The Built Environment 17,500 17,500  17,500

6,600 Euro Collaboration 
44,362 Local Growth Deal (Solent Recreation Mitigation Project)  29,065 29,065 
97,991 59,390 59,390 29,065 88,455

Corporate and Democratic Core: 

60,397 Central Costs 70,440 70,440  70,440
Solent LEP 

60,397 70,440 70,440  70,440

158,388 Net Cost of Services 129,830 129,830 29,065 158,895

(3,899) Interest Received  (3,757) 

154,489 Net Operating Expenditure 155,139 

0 Partnership Contributions (55,700) 
0 DCLG – Local Growth Fund 

154,489 Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) for Year 99,439 
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APPENDIX 1 

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT ON THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE 

The Income & Expenditure account shows actual financial performance for the year, 
measured in terms of resources consumed, and generated over the last 12 months. 
However, the General Fund balance takes account of reserves built up in the past and 
contributions to reserves for future expenditure.  This statement summarises the 
differences between the outturn on the Income & Expenditure account and the General 
Fund balance. 

2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 
Total Revenue Capital Total 

£ £ £ £

(988,733) 
General Fund Balance Brought 
Forward (258,367) (575,878) (834,244) 

154,489 
Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) for the year on 
the Income and Expenditure Account 70,373 29,065 99,439 

(834,244) 
Balance on General Fund Carried 
Forward (187,993) (546,812) (734,805) 
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BALANCE SHEET 

2018/19 2019/20 
£ £ 

Current Assets: 
  Debtors 40,500 

851,307 Cash 721,310 
851,307 Total Current Assets 761,810 

Current Liabilities: 
17,063 Creditors 27,004 

17,063 Total Current Liabilities 27,004 

834,244 Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets 734,805 

Financed By: 
General Reserves: 

258,366 For Revenue Purposes 187,993 
575,878 For Capital Purposes 546,812 

834,244 734,805 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

2018/19 2019/20 
£ £ 

 Revenue Activities 
 Cash Outflows: 

125,461 Operating Costs 119,889 
125,461 119,889 

 Cash Inflows: 
(9,626) Other Income (15,200) 
(9,626) (15,200) 

115,835 
Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from revenue 
activities 104,689 

Returns on Investments and Servicing of 
Finance 

 Cash Inflow: 
(3,899)  Interest Received (3,757) 

(3,899) 
Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from Servicing 
of Finance (3,757) 

Capital Activities 
 Cash Outflows: 

66,366 Grants for Capital Purposes 29,065 
66,366 29,065 

 Cash Inflows: 
Capital grants 

66,366 
Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from Capital 
Activities 29,065 

178,302 Net Cash Inflow(-)/Outflow(+) 129,997 

Note: Cash inflows are shown as negative numbers (-), outflows as positive. 

Page 49 of 78



ANNUAL AUDIT RETURN 

Y/E Y/E
31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019 

£ £

1. Balances Brought Forward 834,244 988,733 

2. Income From Local Taxation and/or Levy 0

3. Total Other Receipts 59,457 3,899 

4. Staff Costs

5. Loan Interest/Capital Repayments

6. All Other Payments (158,895) (158,388) 

7. Balances Carried Forward (1+2+3-4-5-6) 734,805 834,244 

8. Total Cash and Short Term Investments 721,310 851,307 

9. Total Fixed Assets and Long Term Assets 0 0 

10. Total Borrowings 13,495 (17,063) 
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NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Apportionment of Costs from Corporate and Democratic Core

1.1 All costs incurred by the PfSH corporate management team cover all PfSH activities, 
and are not attributable to any individual Delivery Panel. There has therefore been no 
apportionment of these costs. 

2. Interest Received

2.1 Interest is calculated using the average 7 day Libid (London Interbank Bid Rate) on the 
average fund balance held by Southampton City Council on behalf of PFSH. 

3. Partner Contributions to PfSH

3.1 The table below shows the contributions made by each partner in 2019/20 (nil in 
2018/19). 

Council 2019/20
£

East Hampshire District Council 600 
Eastleigh Borough Council 3,700 
Fareham Borough Council 3,700 
Gosport Borough Council 2,500 
Hampshire County Council 17,500 
Havant Borough Council 3,700 
New Forest District Council 2,500 
Portsmouth City Council 11,900 
Southampton City Council 7,800 
Test Valley Borough Council 1,200 
Winchester City Council 600 

55,700 

4. Payments from PfSH to Partners

4.1 The table below sets out payments made to partners from PfSH: 

Council 2019/20 2018/19

£ £
Fareham BC 8,983 12,139 
Hampshire CC 11,743 10,600 
Havant BC 7,954 
Portsmouth CC 58,440 71,249 
Southampton CC 45,387 56,362 
Winchester CC 33 
Total Payments to Partners 132,509 150,383 

5. Grants Received by PfSH

5.1 PfSH received no grant funding during 2019/20.   
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6. Debtors

2019/20 2018/19 
£ £

Other Local Authorities 40,500 0
40,500 0

7. Creditors

2019/20 2018/19 
£ £

Other Local Authorities 18,843 14,000
Sundry Creditors 8,161 3,063 

27,004 17,063 

8. Reconciliation of Income and Expenditure Account to net cash inflow from
revenue activities

2019/20 2018/19 
£ £

Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) on Income & Expenditure 
Account 70,373 110,127

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Debtors 40,500 0 
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Creditors (9,941) 1,809 
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Receipts in 
Advance 0
Less Interest Received 3,757 3,899 

Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from revenue 
activities 104,689 115,835 

9. Reconciliation of Income and Expenditure Account to net cash inflow from capital
activities

2019/20 2018/19 
£ £

Surplus(-)/Deficit(+) on Income & Expenditure 
Account 29,065 44,362

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Debtors 0 
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Creditors 22,004 
Increase(-)/Decrease(+) in Receipts in 
Advance 0

Net Cash inflow(-)/outflow(+) from capital 
activities 29,065 66,366 
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10. Reconciliation of the Movement in Cash

2019/20 2018/19 
£ £

Increase(+)/Decrease(-) in Cash (129,997) (178,302) 
Represented by:  
Net Movement from Revenue (104,189) (115,835) 
Net Movement from Capital (29,065) (66,366) 
Net Movement from returns on investment 3,757 3,899 

11. Financial Instruments

11.1 In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102) debtors, payments in 
advance and temporary lending are classified as loans and receivable financial 
instruments.  Creditors (note 6), receipts in advance and temporary borrowing are 
classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.  All such elements included in the 
Balance Sheet are short term and have been valued at face value, which is a reasonable 
assessment of fair value. 

11.2 Credit risk arises from deposits with other institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
PfSH's debtors.  As surplus cash is temporarily invested with Southampton City Council, 
PfSH is exposed to minimal risk.  PfSH's debtors are generally other public sector 
bodies. 

11.3 PfSH has access to temporary borrowing from Southampton City Council’s cash 
surpluses, so there is no significant liquidity risk of not being able to raise finance. There 
is no investment in equity shares or other shareholdings, and no financial assets or 
liabilities in foreign currencies so no exposure to either price risk or exchange rate risk. 

11.4 In summary, the risks to which PfSH is exposed to are minimal and therefore it is not 
considered necessary to perform any sensitivity analysis of the above risks as any 
changes to the risks would be unlikely to be material to these accounts. 

12. Authorisation to Issue the Accounts

12.1 These Accounts were authorised for issue on 7th July 2020 by the Chief Financial 
Officer, and events after the balance sheet date have been considered to this date.  

13. Other notes that require disclosure but which this Joint Committee has nothing
to report

 There have been no acquired or discontinued operations during the year.

 There were no exceptional items, extraordinary items or prior period adjustments
in the year.

 The Joint Committee has no undischarged obligations from long-term projects.

 The Joint Committee does not have any intangible fixed assets.

 The Joint Committee does not have any contingent assets or liabilities.

 The Joint Committee does not have a controlling or dominant influence in any
company.
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 The Joint Committee has no interests that would require the production of Group
Accounts.

 The Joint Committee has no Business Improvement District Schemes in operation.

 The Joint Committee has no discretionary expenditure or pooled funds under the
Health Act 1999.

 The Joint Committee does not administer any Trust Funds.

 The Joint Committee does not have any interest in Building Control and therefore
no requirement to produce building control accounts.

 The Joint Committee does not operate a scheme under the Transport Act 2000.

 The Joint Committee does not have any Public Finance Initiative schemes.

 No Allowances have been paid to Members.

 There have been no post balance sheet events up to the date of the issue of the
accounts to the Joint Committee.

14. Related Party Transactions

14.1 PfSH is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence PfSH or to be controlled or 
influenced by PfSH.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the 
extent to which PfSH might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently 
or might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with 
PfSH. There were no related party transactions. 

14.2 Central government has effective control over the operations of PfSH - it is responsible 
for providing the statutory framework within which PfSH operates and has provided the 
majority of its funding in the form of grants.   

14.3 Members of the Joint Committee have direct control over PfSH's financial and operating 
policies, and notes 3 and 4 set out the transactions with the parent councils of the 
members of the Joint Committee.  Grants awarded were made with proper consideration 
of declarations of interest.  The relevant members did not take part in any decision 
relating to the grants.  There were no related party transactions involving members or 
officers. 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

1. Scope of responsibility

1.1 The Partnership for South Hampshire (“PfSH”) is a Joint Committee comprising 12 local 
authorities (“the Councils”). The primary governance arrangements that apply directly 
to those members and officers of the Councils who are engaged in PfSH activities are 
those maintained by their own individual local authority (for example, Codes of 
Conduct). The relationship between the Councils in respect of PfSH are set out in the 
Joint Agreement (“the Agreement”) which has been approved by each of the Councils 
at a full council meeting. A copy of the Agreement is available at: 

https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/partnership/working-arrangements/governance/ 

1.2 Southampton City Council’s Chief Operating Officer has also been appointed as the 
Lead Advisor on legal and constitutional issues for PfSH, and also the statutory 
Monitoring Officer for PfSH. As such, the Southampton City Council governance 
arrangements take precedence, and form the basis of PfSH’s governance framework 
for the operation of the Joint Committee and its activities. 

1.3 Southampton City Council is the lead authority for financial matters, and Southampton 
City Council’s Service Director-Finance and Commercialisation is also the statutory 
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) for PfSH. 

1.4 PfSH (“the Joint Committee”) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted 
in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded 
and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Joint 
Committee also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are 
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. In 
discharging this overall responsibility, the Joint Committee is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

1.5 In addition to the Agreement, the Joint Committee reviewed the governance 
arrangements at its meeting of 6 June 2013, and the report is available at: 

https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Item-12-PFSH-Governance-
Review-and-Business-Plan.pdf 

1.6 The Financial Protocols (“the Protocols”) for PFSH were reviewed at the meeting of 28 
January 2014, and these are available at: 

https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Item-7-Annex-A-Revised-
Financial-Protocols.pdf 

2. The purpose of the governance framework

2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and 
values, by which the Joint Committee is directed and controlled and its activities through 
which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the Joint 
Committee to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider 
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
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policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an 
ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the 
Joint Committee’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

2.3 The governance framework has been in place for the Joint Committee for the year 
ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

3. The Governance Framework

3.1 The following describes the key elements of the systems and processes that comprise 
the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements including arrangements for: 

Identifying and communicating the Joint Committee’s vision of its purpose and 
intended outcomes for citizens and service users: 

3.2 The sub-regional strategy for South Hampshire and Isle of Wight sets out objectives for 
growing prosperity and improving the quality of life.  Those objectives need to be 
translated into actions that will deliver change.  PfSH’s Business Plan sets out how the 
sub-regional strategy is to be delivered. The 2019/20 Business Plan was considered by 
the Joint Committee 4th June 2019. 

Reviewing the Joint Committee’s vision and its implications for the governance 
arrangements: 

3.3 Southampton City Council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance (“CCG”) 
which identifies in one core document how the Council ensures that it runs itself in a 
lawful, structured, ethical and professional manner. The CCG is administered by the 
Monitoring Officer and is updated periodically by the Council’s Standards and 
Governance Committee. As PfSH follows Southampton’s governance arrangements (its 
Constitution etc), Southampton’s CCG reflects and represents PfSH’s governance 
arrangements. The full document is published on the City Council’s internet site at: 

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/policies/code-of-corporate-governance-feb-
2020_tcm63-396028.pdf 

Measuring the quality of services for users, for ensuring they are delivered in 
accordance with the authority’s objectives and for ensuring that they represent 
the best use of resources: 

3.4 The Joint Committee has adopted a Performance Framework which sets out PfSH’s 
overall approach to secure on-going improvements across a wide range of services that 
are provided to local residents and businesses.   

3.5 The Joint Committee set indicative revenue and capital budget allocations across the 
Delivery Panels and covering the core PfSH organisational costs at its meeting of 4th 
June 2019.   

3.6 Monitoring reports are considered by the Joint Committee three times a year.  

3.7 These reports are available at: 

https://www.PUSH.gov.uk/work/our-meetings/joint-committee/ 
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Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive, 
scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and protocols 
for effective communication: 

3.8 The Joint Committee has a Joint Agreement, Governance Framework and Financial 
Protocols setting out how it operates, how decisions are made and the procedures 
followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. 
Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Joint 
Committee to choose. 

3.9 The Governance Framework and Financial Protocols set out the detailed rules 
governing the Joint Committee’s business including details of the scheme of delegation 
that provide for delegation to senior officers (Lead Chief Executives and the Executive 
Director). 

Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the 
standards of behaviour for members and staff: 

3.10 Members and officers acting on behalf of PfSH are required to follow their individual 
authority ‘Members’ Code of Conduct’ or ‘Officer Code of Conduct’ as appropriate. 

3.11 The Members’ Code covers areas of individual behaviour such as Members not abusing 
their position or not misusing their authority's resources. In addition there are rules 
governing disclosure of private interests and withdrawal from meetings where Members 
have relevant interests. Members are also required to record on the public register their 
financial and other interests. 

Reviewing and updating standing orders, standing financial instructions, a 
scheme of delegation and supporting procedure notes/manuals, which clearly 
define how decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to 
manage risks: 

3.12 The Joint Agreement sets out how the Joint Committee operates, how decisions are 
made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people. This includes information on how the Joint 
Committee operates, how decisions are made and the role of overview and scrutiny. 

3.13 Periodically, as appropriate, the Monitoring Officer, together with the Executive Director 
and the CFO, conducts a review of the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements, 
which are considered by the Joint Committee from time to time. 

3.14 All reports submitted to the Joint Committee for a decision must receive legal and 
financial clearance prior to publication in accordance with the published procedures. 

Undertaking the core functions of an audit committee, as identified in CIPFA’s 
Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 

3.15 It is not practical for PfSH to have a formally constituted Audit Committee whose role 
would be to provide independent assurance to the Joint Committee or Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the 
internal control and reporting environment, including (but not limited to) the reliability of 
the financial reporting process and the annual governance statement. The Joint 
Committee therefore acts in this capacity directly to receive the accounts, annual 
governance statement and the reports of the appointed auditor. 
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Ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures, and that expenditure is lawful: 

3.16 It is the role of the Monitoring Officer and the CFO to ensure compliance with relevant 
laws and regulations and that expenditure is lawful. This is achieved through the 
governance framework including the Joint Agreement itself and the Financial Protocols. 

Whistle-blowing and receiving and investigating complaints from the public: 

3.17 Any complaints received by the Joint Committee in respect of unlawful conduct, 
illegality, financial malpractice or dangers to the public, employees or the environment 
would be dealt with by the Monitoring Officer, in line with Southampton City Council’s 
procedures. 

3.18 The Joint Committee does not employ staff directly, but rather by the relevant 
constituent authorities. Each council is required to have its own whistle blowing policy, 
and staff can utilise these for any activities of PfSH. 

Identifying the development needs of members and senior officers in relation to 
their strategic roles, supported by appropriate training: 

3.19 The Councils individually have their own programmes for member and senior officer 
learning and development to cover general development needs. From time to time, 
PfSH organises member and senior officer workshops to address emerging 
development needs specific to the Joint Committee. 

Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the community 
and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open 
consultation: 

3.20 PfSH has established a Communications Strategy. In addition, the Joint Committee is 
able to draw on the existing communication channels of the Councils.  

4. Review of effectiveness

4.1 The Joint Committee has a responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of 
the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. 
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the Executive Director, the 
Monitoring Officer and the CFO. 

4.2 The review process applied in respect of maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control, is informed by: 

 the work of Members/Officers within the Joint Committee;

 audit and other periodic reports from the Internal Auditor;

 reports received from service review agencies or inspectorates where appropriate,
and

5. The Joint Committee

5.1 The Joint Agreement forms the cornerstone of effective corporate governance, 
supported by the Governance Framework and the Financial Protocols. It has been 
approved by the full Council meetings of each of the partner local authorities. 
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6. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6.1 The Joint Agreement establishes a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the 
following terms of reference: 

 To scrutinise and call in Joint Committee decisions.

 To scrutinise in particular the PfSH Business Plan and its delivery.

 In respect of any call in:

o To review decisions made in accordance with the approved business plan and
where they consider it appropriate, refer such decisions back to Joint Committee
with comments for reconsideration;

o To review decisions not made in accordance with the approved business plan
where they may either refer such decisions back to Joint Committee with
comments for reconsideration or refer the decision back to individual authorities.
The Council has a formally constituted Audit Committee whose role it is to
provide independent scrutiny.

7. The Joint Committee acting as an Audit Committee

7.1 The Joint Committee receives reports to meet certain statutory obligations, such as 
approving the Annual Governance Statement, the Statement of Accounts and the 
receiving the annual external auditor’s report. 

8. The Delivery Panels

8.1 The Governance Framework has established four Delivery Panels based on service 
delivery themes, with each Panel being responsible for overseeing and driving the 
implementation of the relevant area of the Business Plan. The panels are: 

 Planning and Infrastructure

 Energy and Green Economy

 Culture, Creative Industries and The Built Environment

 Euro Collaboration

9. Internal audit

9.1 The Joint Committee does not operate an Internal Audit function. However, the 
Southampton City Council / Portsmouth City Council shared internal audit service 
undertakes an assurance role that provides an independent and objective opinion to the 
CFO and to the external auditor that adequate financial systems and controls are in 
place.  The audit plan for PfSH is agreed with the CFO. The Internal Audit Section is 
subject to regular review by the Joint Committee’s external auditors who seek to place 
reliance on the work carried out by the section. 

10. Other review/assurance mechanisms.

10.1 The Annual Governance Statement is reviewed each year. This statement, insofar as it 
is applicable to a Joint Committee, follows the guidance set out within the 
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CIPFA/SOLACE framework: “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” 
published in June 2007. 

11. Significant governance issues

11.1 No significant governance issues have been identified, however we will continue to 
review our governance arrangements from time to time and on at least an annual basis. 

11.2 We propose over the coming year to take appropriate steps to address matters arising 
out of such reviews to further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied 
that this will address the need for any improvements that might be identified in our 
review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of 
any subsequent review. 

Signed _____________________________________ 

Councillor Seán Woodward, Chairman. 

7th July 2020 

Signed ______________________________________ 

Paddy May, PfSH Co-ordinator. 

7th July 2020 
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Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  07 July 2020 

Report of:  David Bibby, Principal Planning Officer (Strategy), Test Valley 
Borough Council  
– on behalf of PfSH Water Quality Working Group (WQWG)

Subject:     PfSH NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY UPDATE 

SUMMARY 

There is evidence of high levels nitrogen and phosphorus in the Solent water 
environment, including evidence of eutrophication at some internationally designated 
sites. This must be addressed as required by the Habitats Regulations. The 
achievement of nutrient neutrality, if scientifically and practically achievable, is a means 
of ensuring that development does not add to existing nutrient burdens.   

This report provides an additional update on recent progress made on the work that 
PfSH is undertaking with partners to address the issue of achieving nutrient neutrality 
from development across the sub-region. This follows the previous updates considered 
by the Joint Committee on 14 October 2019 and 10 February 2020 and highlights 
furthermore recent actions since early 2020. In light of the advice from Natural England, 
the aim continues to be to develop a PfSH wide strategic approach to mitigation in 
order to achieve nutrient neutral development - and deliver the planned housing 
development compliant with the Habitats Regulations.   

Action continues under a number of workstreams as outlined on the report, in order to 
progress addressing the nutrient neutrality issue, working with key partners and 
interested parties.   

In light of positive responses received to the requests for funding from PfSH members 
and other affected local authorities, a dedicated resource in the form of a temporary 
planning officer post is proposed, to establish a pilot sub-regional mitigation scheme, 
together with continuing to work towards a Solent Nutrient Fund as a sub-regional 
mitigation scheme, and which would function as a PfSH wide strategic approach. 

Item 11 
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For those unfamiliar with the background to the issue, a summary of this was provided 
as Appendix 1 to the previous report to the Joint Committee on 10 February 2020. 

Since the last meeting of Joint Committee 10 February, the following activity has taken 
place: 

 Water Quality Working Group (WQWG) has continued to meet virtually on a
regular basis, working closely with the PfSH Planning Officers’ Group (POG)
and key interested parties

 Consideration of a dedicated temporary planning officer post as a dedicated
resource for PfSH to work on the nutrient neutrality issue and take forward a
pilot sub-regional mitigation scheme, including the agreement of funding from a
majority of PfSH members and other affected local authorities

 An ‘in principle’ interest to contributing funding towards a Solent Nutrient Fund
as a sub-regional mitigation scheme from a majority of PfSH members and other
affected local authorities

 Ongoing engagement with Government officials from MHCLG and DEFRA
 Updated advice and methodology from Natural England (NE), including an

accompanying non-technical summary and nutrient budget calculation tool
 Discussion taking place between Natural England (NE) and the Environment

Agency (EA) on a potential Waste Water Treatment Works (WwTW) permit
review, but now temporarily on hold due to Coronavirus pandemic

 Voluntary monthly monitoring now being undertaken by Southern Water of
nitrogen discharges from larger WwTW which do not currently have a permit
limit.

 Continued work on the Integrated Water Management Study (IWMS) addendum
update, in light of updated NE advice and methodology and additional Southern
Water discharge monitoring

 Progress in developing and implementing the Hampshire and Isle of Wight
Wildlife Trust (HIWWT) mitigation scheme, with the first site now being
purchased.

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee:- 

a) ENDORSES the establishment of a dedicated officer resource as a temporary
planning officer post to work on the nutrient neutrality issue, and to take forward
a pilot sub-regional mitigation scheme;

b) ENDORSES continued investigation into determining a sub-regional mitigation
scheme , including working towards a Solent Nutrient Fund

c) ENDORSES PfSH's continued work with wider local authority partners beyond
PfSH members in addressing the nutrient neutrality issue, including on potential
funding;

d) NOTES that PfSH continues to seek potential options for suitable mitigation
measures, and alternative funding sources; and

e) NOTES that PfSH will continue to work closely with MHCLG and DEFRA to find
mitigation solutions and to SEEK support to assist us in achieving these.
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SHORT TERM MITIGATIONS - DEALING WITH THE IMMEDIATE ISSUE 

1. While the WQWG has continued coordinating the PfSH-wide response to
addressing the need for a medium to long-term strategy (which could build upon
an initial pilot scheme in then moving towards a sub-regional mitigation
scheme), individual LPAs are also progressing undertaking their own activity in
the short-term. Table 1 below provides indicative figures demonstrating the
current scale of the numbers of houses currently backlogged (either solely or
principally) due to the issue.  This is an update to the figures from the position
in February 2020.

Table 1 - Indicative numbers of homes (units) backlogged due to the nutrient 
neutrality requirement placed on housing development.  

Local Authority Developments (units) 
significantly or principally 
backlogged because of 
the nutrients issue 

Developments solely 
backlogged because of 
the nutrients issue (units). 

Southampton 0 0
Eastleigh 0 0
Winchester 513 513
Portsmouth 1270 667
Gosport 50 120
Havant* 0 0
Fareham**  1461 - 
East Hampshire 25 14 
Test Valley *** 1520 - 
New Forest (inc NFNPA) 0 (less than 100) 0 (less than 100) 

    Totals 4,839 1,314 
* Dependent on the enactment of land transaction discussed at Havant Borough Council Cabinet
On 3 June 2020. An update can be provided at the Joint Committee meeting 7 July.
**Combined figure. Fareham BC requested that their figures be combined.
***Figures representative of the whole area of Test Valley borough (including the area outside of
its PfSH boundary). Combined figure. Test Valley DC requested that their figures be combined.

2. A number of mitigation options continue to be implemented and explored by
individual PfSH local authorities, depending upon local circumstances. In some
cases these have formal council approval, and also the endorsement of NE as
being suitable measures.  Some local authorities have also revised their position
regarding the issue of nutrient neutrality in the determination of planning
applications.

3. Appendix 1 sets out for each local authority the latest update on what potential
short-term mitigation options are currently in place or are being investigated
(including their present status).

MEDIUM TO LONG-TERM MITIGATION STRATEGY (PfSH ACTIVITY) 

Water Quality Working Group (WQWG) 

4. The WQWG has continued to coordinate the PfSH wide response to addressing
the issue, and in addition to all PfSH members being represented, other affected
local authorities: Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council, Chichester District
Council, Isle of Wight Council and South Downs National Park Authority are also
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all now members of the group and participating in its work.  All recent monthly 
meetings have been taking place virtually.   

5. The WQWG has been working closely with the PfSH Planning Officers’ Group
(POG) and officials from MHCLG and DEFRA have regularly joined meetings of
the POG via teleconference.  In addition, there has continued to be intense level
of engagement with partners, on an ongoing basis and further specific meetings
have been held with key organisations, both under specific workstreams and
regarding the issue more generally.

Temporary Planning Officer post as a dedicated resource to establish a pilot sub-
regional strategic mitigation scheme 

6. The Joint Committee at its meeting on 10 February 2020, agreed to investigate
options for a dedicated officer resource for PfSH to work on the nutrient
neutrality issue and wider Habitats Regulations and internationally designated
site matters, to reflect the specialist nature and workload volume associated with
addressing the issues.  The aim continues to be to reach the stage of having a
developed PfSH-wide strategic approach to mitigation in place in order to
achieve nutrient neutral development and deliver the planned housing
development to meet needs, compliant with the Habitats Regulations.

7. Natural England has previously suggested the creation of a Government funded
officer post to oversee the creation of  a strategic environmental plan for the
region as a practical way forward.  Such an approach would not only address
the nutrient issue, but also address issues relating to climate change, health and
well-being, net environmental gain and biodiversity gain and air quality.  This
would enable local planning authorities to focus in-house resources on resolving
the short term issue, whilst ensuring that sustainable development is delivered
in a smart and affordable way over the medium to long term.  In light of the
Coronavirus pandemic any potential bid for Government funding is on hold, so
it would need at least at present, to be funded locally.

8. Officers (through PfSH POG and WQWG) have been undertaking a scoping
exercise on how a pilot scheme could be developed alongside a dedicated
temporary Planning Officer post to devise a PfSH-led mitigation strategy
(including the implementation of nutrient mitigation measures).  This is
envisaged to be a short term project, of up to one year, with the potential to lead
into a sub-regional mitigation scheme (Solent Nutrient Fund), which could
include additional policy aims such as those within the Environment Bill.  This
has the buy in from both NE and the EA who support this approach.  The work
would be developed alongside the other interim options also currently being
pursued by individual authorities.

9. The dedicated officer will have the responsibility to prepare a PfSH wide
strategic approach to deal with the nutrient neutrality issues and to take forward
a pilot scheme to test how this would operate.  They will be in liaison with PfSH
POG and the WQWG.

10. Regarding the scope of the role, a number of specific tasks have been
potentially identified to be undertaken, including:
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 Identifying land within the relevant geography that would best serve as
mitigation land, including where these would bring wider benefits

 Contacting landowners and identifying costs
 Quantifying potential offset credits available for developers
 Devising a credit allocation protocol, taking account of the identified

scale of nitrogen credit shortfall per local authority, and likelihood of
other offsetting schemes available to developers etc.

 Administering credits via PfSH steering group to maximise other on-site
benefits e.g. woodland planting, biodiversity net gain and open
space/public access. This would require funding as the first stage pilot
scheme for a sub-regional mitigation scheme (Solent Nutrient Fund).

 Data capture and management and progress reporting to PfSH steering
group

 Prepare an evidence report recommending further refinements to the
scheme to encompass other environmental mitigation requirements e.g.
nature recovery strategies and environmental net gain

11. With regard to funding for the dedicated temporary planning officer post and
pilot scheme, staff resources within local authorities are insufficient to progress
the development of any sub-regional mitigation scheme and therefore financial
contributions will be required from participating authorities to enable an officer
to be appointed to develop the scheme.

12. In light of this, David Williams (Portsmouth) as the lead chief executive, sent an
email request to PfSH member local authorities seeking funding towards this
officer post and pilot scheme.  This request was also subsequently extended to
the other affected local authorities participating in the WQWG: Basingstoke and
Deane, Chichester, Isle of Wight and South Downs NPA.

13. PfSH has obtained majority agreement from across the membership to fund the
full time dedicated temporary planning officer post.  Officers are looking into the
potential for determining a fair and equitable approach to how funding for the
post is apportioned between local authorities, including non-members - but the
model previously used to apportion costs for the work underway on the PfSH
Statement of Common Ground will most likely be used. It will be adjusted
however, to take into consideration buy-in to the post by non-members.  PfSH
will now seek to recruit to the post, which may also include consideration of a
secondment of an existing officer from a member local authority.

14. This request also sought in principle interest in contributing towards a Solent
Nutrient Fund, which would be used to pump prime the investments needed and
could fund implementation of the pilot scheme.  Any such funding would be used
to purchase credits for the individual authority concerned and this would be paid
back by developer contributions, as future development takes place.  Table 2
summaries the responses received to both funding requests, including those
from local authorities bordering the PfSH area and are represented on the Water
Quality Working Group
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Table 2 - Summary table of responses to funding request 

Agree contribution to 
temporary Planning 
Officer Post 

Agreement 'in principle' to 
agree a contribution to a 
Solent Nutrient Fund 

Basingstoke and 
Deane 

  

Chichester   
Eastleigh   
East Hants   
Fareham    
Gosport   
Havant  X 

New Forest    
New Forest National 
Park 

  

Portsmouth   
South Downs 
National Park 

  

Southampton   
Test Valley   
Winchester   

Solent Nutrient Fund – Nutrient Mitigation Credit Scheme as sub-regional mitigation 
scheme  

15. Following the second part of the request to chief executives, PfSH has obtained
agreement  ‘in principle’ from a majority of members to contribute to a Solent
Nutrient Fund to pump prime the implementation of a land use change nutrient
mitigation credit scheme. The dedicated temporary planning officer post will
have a key part in rolling this out and its initial management, including
consideration of potential governance and operational arrangements.

16. Noting that positive response were received on an ‘in principle’ basis, once the
scope of how a strategic mitigation scheme might look and how a Solent Nutrient
Fund and credit scheme might operate, including potential cost, this can be
considered further and formal decisions over whether to participate made.
Officers will continue to investigate how this could work in practice as informed
by the pilot scheme designed as the work of the dedicated officer.
Implementation of the pilot scheme will require funding.  As the previous bid to
the Solent LEP was unsuccessful, sources of potential funding support will
continue to be investigated.  Success will be dependent upon funding for any
mitigation scheme.  In line with that, PfSH has already submitted an expression
of interest to the Solent LEP in light of a fresh government funding (allocated in
the context of Covid-19 recovery) to be administered by LEPs for, among other
projects, green growth and housebuilding.
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Government MHCLG and DEFRA – actions at national level 

17. Cross departmental discussions within Government are continuing, including
both NE and EA.  Officials have requested to continue be kept up to date to
inform their understanding of the position locally and what progress is being
made to evaluate the issue and in moving towards potential mitigation solutions.
They have indicated that they remain welcome any specific requests for
intervention or support from Government towards seeking solutions.  However,
the impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic have implications for progress, given
the necessary focus on immediate Government priorities, and on the
implications for public finances.

18. As referenced above PfSH continues dialogue with Government officials at
MHCLG and DEFRA through regular PfSH Planning Officers’ Group (POG)
meetings.  In particular, they are keen to understand what role they can play in
securing support from the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) for the
implementation (monitoring and enforcement mechanisms) for a nutrient credit
scheme.  Any guidance or best practice could then be rolled out to other areas
of the country experiencing similar issues.

19. It is understood that NE held a meeting with a number of local MPs on 15 May
2020 to discuss the nutrient neutrality issue.  NE has advised that based upon
mitigation proposals that it is aware of, or has provided advice on , potential
mitigation schemes could if implemented provide potential offsetting for a lower
estimate of 37,263 dwellings.  These schemes are geographically spread and
from a variety of potential sources: retrofitting council housing stock; land use
change to open space, green space, nature reserve, woodland and wetland;
and end of pipe wetlands to WwTW.  NE recognises that where these require
the pump-priming mitigation land that this is a significant issue to be resolved
and it is continuing to make this point in its own cross Government
conversations.

20. However, this is an indicative figure and should be treated with some caution as
the proposed mitigation may not all proceed and the figure is based upon initial
speculative enquires and developers to NE, which local authorities may not
have been party to if informal and outside the scope of a planning application.
In the absence of the local authorities having a more detailed breakdown of
individual proposals, the summarised information cannot be corroborated.  It
does though demonstrate a significant level of potential mitigation which may
become available over time.

Natural England (NE) Advice and Methodology for Calculating and Development’s 
Nutrient Budget 

21. In March, Natural England (NE) issued updated advice on achieving nutrient
neutrality.  This replaced the previous advice from June 2019.  Taking account
of comments and feedback received in the application of the previous advice,
and light of developing knowledge and best practice significant revisions have
been made and further detail and explanation has been included.  In particular
key changes are:

a. The incorporation of an acceptable TN loading of 2mg/l
b. New methodology for developments that drain to package treatment

plants (PTP)
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c. Further information on the location of mitigation land.

22. The acceptable total nitrogen loading (TN) (a) gives an allowance for
background natural N, which means that in all case 2mg/l can be subtracted
from mains drainage discharges to WwTW for both those with a N permit limit
and for those without.  This goes some way to addressing the issue which has
been raised regarding levels of N in drinking water.

23. The new methodology for PTP or non-mains drainage (b) changes the approach
to one based upon the quantity of nitrogen produced by one person in
wastewater in one year.  This gives a much higher level of N to be offset than
the calculation for mains drainage.  NE will however consider the real world
performance of PTP treatments processes to reduce the level of N discharged
and accept a lower amount of N discharge, is this is justified by sufficient robust
evidence of technical standards and which will be maintained.  It is worth noting
however, that the Environment Agency do not support the provision of PTPs
where connection to mains drainage is an option.  Therefore the use of PTPs is
limited within the sub-region.

24. The further information on the location of mitigation land (c) provides maps of
the relevant catchment area in which off site mitigation land (or other measures)
can be located in relation to the development site, provided that this is also
suitable in all other respects.  Both should be within the same catchment area,
but with a number of river catchments considered together this provides for
greater flexibility and clarity.

25. To accompany the updated advice and methodology, a less detailed non-
technical summary document has also been issued which provides an easier to
use guide for the layman to the addressing the issues together with a list of
‘frequently asked questions’, this will be accompanied by a MS Excel budget
calculator tool in enable a development’s nutrient budget to be more easily
calculated.

26. Additional minor revisions, clarifications were made in a further update of the
advice in June 2020.

Natural England (NE) and the Environment Agency (EA) – WwTW N Permit Limits 

27. The latest position in March was that discussions between NE and the EA were
continuing on the consideration of a WwTW permit review, in light of the latest
advice and evidence submitted to the EA by NE in December.  However, in light
of the Coronavirus pandemic this is now currently on hold, as the EA has had to
prioritise work on other critical responsibilities.  It is not yet known when
discussions may potentially be able to be reconvened.

28. It should be noted that the most recent review was in 2007 and a further review
is not currently scheduled until 2024 at the earliest.  NE and EA will work
together to understand the likely timescales, but no further information on a
potential timetable has been given.  However, it is expected in any event that it
will take EA several weeks (or months) to consider the evidence and take a
decision on whether to now instigate a permit review.  If a favourable decision
is taken to do so, then it is likely to be many further months for the review itself
to be undertaken. A review would be a major undertaking and require significant
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resources. That discussions were taking place earlier in the year, should 
however be seen as a welcome positive first step in the process.  It is anticipated 
that they will resume in due course once this is possible.   

29. If a permit review is agreed, then this could potentially lead to improvements to
WwTW and lower discharge levels leading to an increased capacity to
accommodate new development, alongside a lower level of need for mitigation.
However, such improvements are limited by available technology as well as any
site specific operational and financial constraints.

Southern Water – Monitoring of N discharges from larger WwTW where no N permit 
limit 

30. From April 2020, Southern Water has agreed to undertake voluntary monitoring
of actual nitrogen (N) discharges from the larger WwTW which do not current
have an N permit limit.  This includes some larger inland WwTW beyond the
PfSH boundary, which were not included within the scope of the Integrated
Water Management Study (IWMS).  This will be undertaken on a monthly basis,
alongside the testing already undertaken to monitor the chemicals within
discharges for which there are permit limits, and which are reported to the EA.

31. This data will provide figures on actual discharge levels (compared to the 25mg/l
which is assumed in the NE methodology when no N permit limit exists).  This
may allow in the future weight to be given to actual N discharge levels,
notwithstanding the absence of a current N permit limit, (although in the absence
of such a limit the level of N discharge could increase in the future and there is
also risk that the actual recorded level could be higher than the assumed
25mg/l).

32. However, whilst monitoring data will be available on a monthly basis, it will be
some time before firm conclusions can be reached, due to the variable affects
over the year of: weather, seasonal variations, and changes in discharge flow
rates.  If a WwTW N permit review was to be instigated by the EA in due course,
then this data could also be relevant in this context.

33. This monitoring data on N could potentially though in the interim feed into the
ongoing work on the IWMS – Addendum Update, as it becomes available over
the coming months.  Ammonium discharge levels may also provide a potential
proxy indicator for N levels, which could be used as these are more widely
available.

Integrated Water Management Study (IWMS) - Addendum Update 

34. Work on the update to the 2018 IWMS remains ongoing, although the scope of
this work has evolved to take account of relevant progress in other related areas
e.g. updated NE advice and methodology, and additional voluntary monitoring
by Southern Water of N discharges from larger WwTW without an N permit limit.
It is being undertaken in the form of an addendum update by the same
consultants (Wood plc) who prepared the original study.

35. Further to the update provide to the Joint Committee on 10 February 2020, the
scope of this addendum includes:
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 calculation of the projected percentage increase in nitrate loading across all
WwTWs in total over the present day value

 a review of Southern Waters Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP)
in relation to the Rivers Test and Itchen cases and occupancy rates

 re-worked nitrate loading calculations based on monitoring data (where
available) and/or average over-performance at works

 identify priority WwTWs in relation to lowest levels of offsetting needed to
achieve neutrality

 review of N export coefficients (the quantity of nitrogen produced by one
person in wastewater in one year) in the context of non-mains drainage
Package Treatment Plants (PTP).

36. Further remaining work is to update the nitrate loading based upon using
ammonium as a proxy for N.  This will be for both the WwTWs covered by the
original study and the wider geography now affected and covered by the
Southern Water voluntary N discharge monitoring.  Together with the voluntary
monitoring by Southern Water, this could potentially given an indication of actual
N levels being discharged from individual WwTW, whereas currently there is no
data available.

37. The IWMS Addendum Update will be the subject of a future report to the Joint
Committee.  The intention is for this work to feed into the future work of the
WQWG.  It could also assist in informing future investment in wastewater
infrastructure and any future WwTW permit review.

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust (HIWWT) – mitigation scheme 

38. The mitigation scheme developed by the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife
Trust (HIWWT) operates on a credit system with a cost per kilogram of nitrogen
to be offset.  Land is purchased and taken out of agricultural production and an
individual development is recorded as being offset by a particular parcel of land.

39. HIWWT has now completed its first private land purchase on the Isle of Wight
for the purpose of the implementation of nutrient mitigation.  The HIWWT
continues to seek to identify and purchase appropriate land to further progress
the scheme.

40. Discussions are continuing on how off-site mitigation is most appropriately
agreed through the development management process and legally secured
alongside planning permission.  This includes the legal mechanisms for when
the location of the mitigation is in a different local authority area from the
development site and the principle of seeking to achieve a common approach
to securing, monitoring and enforcing the provision of mitigation land.

41. In the longer term, it is likely that a suite of mitigation measures (of which the
HIWWT scheme is one) to will be used by applicants/developers, potentially in
combination, with the choice of measure(s) being dependent upon the nature,
size and location of the development. Cost will also be a factor for developers.
Consideration of these issues will form part of the investigation work to be
undertaken by the dedicated temporary planning officer in progress the scope
of a sub-regional mitigation scheme.
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CONCLUSION 

42. Action continues under a number of workstreams as outlined on the report, in
order to progress addressing the nutrient neutrality issue, working with key
partners and interested parties.

43. In light of positive responses received to the requests for funding from PfSH
members and other affected local authorities, a dedicated resources in the form
of a temporary planning officer post is proposed, to establish a pilot mitigation
scheme, in working towards a sub-regional mitigation scheme (Solent Nutrient
Fund) as a sub-regional mitigation approach.  The officer will have the
responsibility to prepare a PfSH wide strategic approach to deal with the nutrient
neutrality issues and to take forward a pilot scheme to test how this would
operate.

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee: 

a) ENDORSES the establishment of a dedicated officer resource as a temporary
planning officer post to work on the nutrient neutrality issue, and to take forward
a pilot sub-regional mitigation scheme;

b) ENDORSES continued investigation into determining a sub-regional mitigation
scheme , including working towards a Solent Nutrient Fund

c) ENDORSES PfSH's continued work with wider local authority partners beyond
PfSH members in addressing the nutrient neutrality issue, including on potential
funding;

d) NOTES that PfSH continues to seek potential options for suitable mitigation
measures, and alternative funding sources; and

e) NOTES that PfSH will continue to work closely with MHCLG and DEFRA to find
mitigation solutions and to SEEK support to assist us in achieving these.

Appendices:  
Appendix 1 - Short-term mitigation options being implemented by individual LPAs. 

Background Papers:  
Item 9: PfSH Nutrient Neutrality Update, 10 February 2020 Joint Committee 
Item 8: PfSH Nutrient Neutrality Update, 14 October 2019 Joint Committee 
Item 7: PfSH Nutrient Neutrality Update, 31 July 2019 Joint Committee 
Item 10: South Hampshire Integrated Water Management Study, 5 June 2018 Joint 
Committee 
Item 10: South Hampshire Integrated Water Management Study, 28 March 2018 
Joint Committee 

Reference Papers: None 

Enquiries:  
For further information on this report please contact:- 

David Bibby, Principal Planning Officer (Strategy), Test Valley Borough Council 
T: 01264 368105 
E: dbibby@testvalley.gov.uk 
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Appendix 1 

Overview of Short-term Mitigation Measures being implemented by each Local 
Authority Member  

Local 
Authority 

Mitigations measures 

East Hampshire A mitigation strategy was approved on 30 July and has been operational since 
then. Paragraphs 28-35 of East Hampshire District Council's Position Statement 
on Nutrient Neutral Development  

Eastleigh The Council has convened a project team to investigate medium term solutions 
within the Borough and is working with the Partnership for South Hampshire on 
strategic longer term solutions.   

The main new sites will be West of Horton Heath, and the Strategic Growth 
Option that the Council is planning for in its Local Plan - a mixed use community 
with at least 5,300 dwellings.  These would be served by the Chickenhall waste 
water treatment works (WwTW) - which is a fluvial WwTW and which, based on 
the Environment Agency's (EA) current approach has no nitrate permit limits.  If 
the EA were to change its approach this would very significantly reduce the scale 
of other mitigation required.  

The range of measures are likely to include, or could include acquisition of 
agricultural land as part of a wider green infrastructure strategy; woodland 
planting; reed beds/wetlands adjacent to WwTW; working with EA / Southern 
Water to seek upgrades to WwTW; potentially working with affordable housing 
providers to secure water efficiencies across the existing housing stock.  

The Council already applies conditions to all, not just affordable, developments to 
secure water efficiency of 105 litres / person / day which is more stringent than 
the 110 litres recommended by Natural England. 

Fareham In line with our Interim Nitrate Mitigation solution, we are progressing a range of 
mitigation solutions with applicants.  We have granted permission for two 
Fareham Housing applications using the retrofitting of existing properties. 

We are working with a range of applicants on a number of mitigation options for 
developments that are not nitrate neutral.  This principally involves off site 
mitigation and the purchase of nitrate ‘credits’. 

Gosport Gosport Borough Council has been looking into a water efficiency programme 
which could create a limited amount of capacity in the short term.  

It is keen to link up with the PfSH-wide water efficiency programme, if approved 
by Natural England.  

In addition, the Council is working with PfSH/HIWWT on a long-term land change 
strategy. 

Havant We are currently looking to prepare a mitigation scheme. Possible mitigation 
options can be found in the Council's Position Statement. 

New Forest NFDC and NFNPA are preparing a Nutrient Management Strategy supported by 
consultants EPR.  EPR outputs to include scoping and costing of a range of 
options to minimise nutrient load at source and to offset any additional load that 
cannot be avoided, and to provide recommendations on the most effective and 
practicable options for inclusion in a mitigation programme.  

In addition to developer advice the intention is to set a developer contribution rate 
to implement a tested and deliverable set of mitigation measures.  This part of 
the project has reached the stage of more detailed evaluation of the most 
promising options in terms of scale, efficacy and cost, including preliminary land 
owner negotiations to more accurately cost them and clarify their deliverability.  

The strategy will seek to mitigate the full local plans impact if possible, or as a 
minimum to provide some headroom  whilst strategic solutions are identified at 
national and/or PfSH level. 
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For NFDC/NFNPA development in the Avon catchment is required to be 
phosphate neutral and the New Forest strategy will address that as well, 
including through strategic solutions being developed by the Avon Nutrient 
Management Partnership that are at an early stage. 

New Forest 
National Park 

As above 

Portsmouth Securing water efficiency improvements in perpetuity to allow wastewater 
'headroom' for new development; a no net change approach.  

This includes both offsetting against vacant PCC assets and progressively 
upgrading the water efficiency of the Council's own housing stock.  

New development would also be required to have higher water efficiency 
standards as secured by condition. This is a short- term solution (potentially 3-4 
years?).  

A comprehensive, longer-term strategic solution is still required, in combination 
with action by government agencies to address the main sources of water 
pollution. 

Southampton A review of which has just recommenced. The city intends to deliver major urban 
development / regeneration and as such development will not be taking land out 
of agricultural use and so in that sense the nitrate effects will be greater.   

However, two of the three WwTW in the city already have nitrate permit limits. It 
is understood from general discussion that these may already be at 'best 
available technology'.  The Council is keen to discuss with EA and Southern 
Water a review of consents, particularly as technology improves, and in relation 
to the third WwTW.   

The Council owns considerable housing stock and there is the potential to apply 
additional water efficiency measures. This would also have a social inclusion 
effect as Southampton is a water-metered area.  

Beyond these, measures are likely to focus on working strategically with PfSH, 
neighbouring authorities and public landowners outside of the city to acquire land 
to take out of agricultural use, plant woodland, deliver wetlands, and implement 
sensitive farming measures. 

Test Valley The Council continues to investigate the potential of SANG land, land in Council 
ownership. However, the focus in on how 'land based' off-site mitigation options 
could be successfully implemented in accordance with the requirements of both 
the Habitats Regulations and be secured legally alongside a planning 
permission. Discussions are ongoing with HIWWT on the practicalities over how 
their mitigation scheme could successfully operate in Test Valley. 

The potential for investigating the feasibility of WwTW upgrade has also been 
examined. 

Winchester The agreed Cabinet position proposes to develop an avoidance and mitigation 
package to assist applicants. This will include reviewing the scope for additional 
water use reduction measures in Council housing stock and opportunities for the 
Council to secure agricultural land de-commissioning (underway).  

Planning consents are being granted subject to a Grampian condition restricting 
occupancy until avoidance/mitigation measures are in place.  While this allows 
consents to be issued, few applicants are in position to achieve the required 
measures on their own sites/land.  Work is taking place on initial legal 
agreements between developers, land owners and the Council to enable the 
developer to demonstrate that a scheme can meet the nitrate neutral 
requirement. 

Report going to Cabinet in July updating the situation and seeking support for the 
PfSH strategic mitigation and project manager proposals. 
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Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  07 July 2020 

Report of: Paddy May, PfSH Coordinator 

Subject: SOUTHERN POLICY CENTRE, A STRATEGY FOR THE CENTRAL 
SOUTH? 

SUMMARY  

The Joint Committee are to receive a presentation by Simon Eden, Director, 
Southern Policy Centre. The Southern Policy Centre has been exploring whether the 
central South can be seen as a coherent region - and has analysed the published 
plans and strategies of LEPs and local authorities, asking whether when taken 
together they articulate a clear strategy for our area.  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee NOTES the presentation 'A strategy 
for the central south?' 

Item 12 
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BACKGROUND 

With a new devolution White Paper likely to be published soon, it seems Ministers will 
make devolution to our larger cities and regions part of their planning for economic 
recovery. The Southern Policy Centre has been exploring whether the central South 
can be seen as a coherent region and has analysed the published plans and 
strategies of LEPs and local authorities, asking whether when taken together they 
articulate a clear strategy for our area. 

Its study concluded that communities across the central South – from BCP to 
Portsmouth and towards the north of Hampshire – faced many common opportunities 
and challenges. There are shared economic priorities, demands for investment in 
critical infrastructure, and common social and environmental challenges. But the 
‘region’ is unlike others, it doesn’t fit easily onto council or LEP boundaries. Its 
geography varies slightly according to the challenge: transport connectivity, 
encouraging innovation, economic sector or affordable housing – its boundaries are 
‘fuzzy’. 

The Centre concluded the focus should be on promoting the region and building 
cooperation rather than attempting to reorganise existing organisations or their 
boundaries. The idea we benefit from seeing the central South as a coherent whole is 
already being adopted by some: it was the subject of a promotional video by 
Regenerate South, was used as regional ‘branding’ by the public-private consortium 
that had planned to attend the MIPIM conference and we are aware of it being used 
in strategy documents being prepared by some local authorities and universities. It 
has proved flexible and adaptable to the needs of different organisations whilst still 
conveying a coherent message. 

The presentation to PfSH Joint Committee will summarise the findings and give the 
Joint Committee the opportunity to discuss how best we can promote collaboration 
and raise our profile with the Government and potential investors. 

Background Papers: None 

Reference Papers: None 

Enquiries:  

For further information on this report please contact:- 

Paddy May, PfSH Coordinator 
T: 023 9283 4020 
E: paddy.may@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
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Item 13 

Report to the Partnership for South Hampshire 

Joint Committee 

Date:  07 July 2020 

Report of:  Leigh Usher, Head of Democratic Services, Fareham Borough 
Council 

Subject: PFSH SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS FOR 20/21 

SUMMARY 

Each year the PfSH Joint Committee is to agree both the Joint Committee and the 
PfSH overview and Scrutiny Committee schedule of meetings. Appendix 1 shows 
them meetings for this municipal year 2020/2021. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Joint Committee AGREES the schedule of meetings 
for 2020/21.  
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Mon 1 1 1 Mon

Tues 2 1 1 2 2 Tues

Wed 3 1 2 2 3 3 Wed

Thurs 4 2 3 1 3 4 4 1 Thurs

Friday 1 5 3 4 2 4 1 Bank Holiday 5 5 2 Good Friday Friday

Sat 2 6 4 1 5 3 5 2 6 6 3 Sat

Sun 3 7 5 2 6 4 1 6 3 7 7 4 Sun

Mon 4 8 6 3 7 5 2 7 4 8 8 5 Easter Monday Mon

Tues 5 9 7 PfSH JC 4 8 6 3 8 5 9 9 PfSH O&S 6 Tues

Wed 6 10 8 5 9 7 4 9 6 10 10 7 Wed

Thurs 7 11 9 6 10 8 5 10 7 11 11 8 Thurs

Friday 8 Bank Holiday 12 10 7 11 9 6 11 8 12 12 9 Friday

Sat 9 13 11 8 12 10 7 12 9 13 13 10 Sat

Sun 10 14 12 9 13 11 8 13 10 14 14 11 Sun

Mon 11 15 13 10 14 12 9 14 11 15 15 12 Mon

Tues 12 16 14 11 15 13 10 15 12 16 16 13 Tues

Wed 13 17 15 12 16 14 11 16 13 PfSH O&S 17 17 14 Wed

Thurs 14 18 16 13 17 PfSH O&S 15 12 17 14 18 18 15 Thurs

Friday 15 19 17 14 18 16 13 18 15 19 19 16 Friday

Sat 16 20 18 15 19 17 14 19 16 20 20 17 Sat

Sun 17 21 19 16 20 18 15 20 17 21 21 18 Sun

Mon 18 22 20 17 21 19 16 PfSH O&S 21 18 22 22 PfSH JC 19 Mon

Tues 19 23 PfSH O&S 21 18 22 20 17 22 19 23 23 20 Tues

Wed 20 24 22 19 23 21 18 23 20 24 24 21 Wed

Thurs 21 25 23 20 24 22 19 24 21 25 25 22 Thurs

Friday 22 26 24 21 25 23 20 25 Bank Holiday 22 26 26 23 Friday

Sat 23 27 25 22 26 24 21 26 23 27 27 24 Sat

Sun 24 28 26 23 27 25 22 27 24 28 28 25 Sun

Mon 25 Bank Holiday 29 27 24 28 26 23 28 Bank Holiday 25 PfSH JC 29 26 Mon

Tues 26 30 28 25 29 27 24 29 26 30 27 Tues

Wed 27 29 26 30 PfSH JC 28 25 30 27 31 28 Wed

Thurs 28 30 27 29 26 31 28 29 Thurs

Friday 29 31 28 30 27 29 30 Friday

Sat 30 29 31 28 30 Sat

Sun 31 30 29 31 Sun

Mon 31 Bank holiday 30 PfSH JC Mon

Tues Tues

  KEY to Meetings are held at Fareham Borough Council, Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham, PO15 7AZ

  Abbreviations

PfSH JC = PUSH Joint Committee (5)

PfSH O&S = PUSH Overview and Scrutiny Committee (5) School hols

March AprilMay June July August September October

October

November December January February

May June July August September November December January February March April

Appendix 1
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